
 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

Monday, 28 July 2014 6.00 pm Committee Room 1, City Hall 

 
Membership: 
 

 
Councillors Ric Metcalfe (Chair), Donald Nannestad (Vice-Chair), 
Rosanne Kirk, Neil Murray, Fay Smith and Peter West 
 

Officers attending: 
 

Angela Andrews, John Bibby, Democratic Services, John Latham, 
Andrew Taylor and Carolyn Wheater 
 

A G E N D A 

SECTION A Page(s)  

MINUTES AND EXTRACTS 

1.  Confirmation of Minutes - 7 July 2014  
 

3 - 10 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 
Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, 
when declaring interests members must disclose the existence and 
nature of the interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI) or personal and/or pecuniary. 
 

 

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT & CUSTOMER SERVICES 

3.  Local Authority Mortgage Scheme  
 

11 - 20 

4.  Lincoln BIG Ballot Nomination  
 

21 - 24 

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

5.  Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014  
 

25 - 30 

PLANNING POLICY & ECONOMIC REGENERATION 

6.  Lincoln Integrated Transport Strategy 2013 Progress Review  
 

31 - 38 

7.  Growth Initiatives: Castleline & Visit Lincoln  
 

39 - 42 

HOUSING 

8.  Draft New Tenancy Agreement  
 

43 - 84 

Public Document Pack



 

9.  Municipal Housebuilding Programme  
 

To Follow 

RECREATIONAL SERVICES & HEALTH 

10.  Skatepark Planning Application  
 

85 - 88 

 



Executive 7 July 2014 

 
Present: Councillor Ric Metcalfe (in the Chair),  

Councillor Donald Nannestad, Councillor Rosanne Kirk, 
Councillor Neil Murray, Councillor Fay Smith and 
Councillor Peter West 
 

Apologies for Absence: None. 
 

 
17.  Confirmation of Minutes - 16 June 2014  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 16 June 2014 be confirmed. 
 

18.  Declarations of Interest  
 

Councillor Donald Nannestad declared a Personal and Pecuniary Interest with 
regard to the agenda item titled 'Sudbrooke Drive Community Centre'. He was a 
member of the Lincolnshire Sports board. He was not present during the 
discussion of this item.  
 

19.  Change to the Order of Business  
 

RESOLVED that the item titled ‘Boultham Park – Restoration Update’ [minute no. 
20] be considered as the next item. 
 

20.  Boultham Park - Restoration Project Update  
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. To provide the Executive with an update on the progress of the project, 
and to agree the basis on which a formal Partnership Agreement with 
supporting financial details could be agreed.  

 
2. To delegate authority to agree the Partnership Agreement to the Director 
of Housing and Community Services in conjunction with the Director of 
Resources. 

 
3. To delegate authority to the Director of Resources to identify an increased 
contingency sum as opportunity permitted if thought prudent as the project 
developed.  

 
4. To obtain updated formal member support for the acceptance of the grant 
funding for the project from the Heritage Lottery Fund. 

 
Decision 
 
1. That the progress being made on the project be noted. 
 
2. That the implementation of the revised Partnership Agreement be 
supported with authority for agreement delegated to the Director of 
Housing and Community Services in conjunction with the Director of 
Resources. 

 

Item No. 1

3



3. That authority be delegated to the Director of Resources to identify an 
increased contingency sum as opportunity permitted and if thought prudent 
as the project developed.  

 
4. That the acceptance of the standard terms of the grant of funding from the 
Heritage Lottery Fund be approved. 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
In July 2013 the Council was informed that its partnership bid with Linkage 
Community Trust to the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF)/ Big Lottery Fund ‘Parks for 
People’ body for the restoration and improvement of Boultham Park had been 
successful.   
 
As was usual for a project of this size, a review of the governance for the 
partnership had taken place. It was now possible for the previous Partnership 
Agreement to be revised, along with appropriate supporting financial information. 
The document was in development and had been subject to consultation with 
Linkage Community Trust. Members noted that representatives from both sides 
were in agreement that a suitable document both to guide governance and 
mitigate risks arising from ambiguity would be created, and so authority to agree 
the document was delegated to the Director of Housing and Community Services. 
 
In addition, mindful of the significant financial risks for the project, authority was 
delegated for the Director of Resources to make increased contingency provision 
as opportunities permitted if this was considered prudent as the project 
progressed. The Executive further approved the acceptance of the grant funding 
from the HLF. 
 

21.  ICT Service Business Case  
 

Purpose of Report 
 
To present to the Executive the detailed business case relating to a review of the 
ICT Service. 
 
Decision 
 
That the restructure of the ICT service be approved in accordance with the 
timeline identified within the detailed business case. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
As part of the Towards Financial Sustainability Programme, Business 
Development and Finance Services were required to deliver annual savings of 
£250k.  This target incorporated an individual target of £36,000 attributed to the 
ICT Service.  

4



 
Alongside the Council’s own need to review the ICT Service, there was an 
established programme of review with other local authority partners.  The Council 
therefore had to consider whether to continue operating as a separate entity for 
infrastructure and ICT support or to join a shared service.  
 
Having considered the draft business case as well as the comments of the Policy 
Scrutiny Committee and the City of Lincoln Council and Employee Joint 
Consultative Committee, members agreed that the Council should continue to 
operate as a separate entity for infrastructure and ICT support purposes. The 
overriding reason for this decision was the lack of an overall agreed roadmap for 
the establishment of future shared services between the districts, combined with 
the lack of a compelling financial case for the establishment of a shared ICT 
service.   
 
The savings target required to be achieved from this review was £36k per year, 
which would be exceeded by the savings in the business case. Noting the 
changes in the staff structure and the proposals for investment in the ICT core 
infrastructure, officers were requested to implement the proposals within the 
business case. However, members further noted that opportunities for savings 
through cooperation with partner local authorities would be pursued on a case-by-
case basis wherever this was pragmatic and advisable in terms of the potential 
benefits to the Council. 
 

22.  Change of Establishment within the Food, Health & Safety Team  
 

Purpose of Report 
 
To advise of a proposed change of establishment. 
 
Decision 
 
That the proposed change in establishment be approved. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Noting the support of the City of Lincoln Council and Employee Joint Consultative 
Committee, the change in establishment was agreed to secure the resources 
required to protect public health by delivering the food safety and hygiene 
inspection programme.  The establishment within the Food, Health & Safety 
Team would be altered by deleting the vacant 0.8 full-time equivalent 
Environmental Health Officer post and using the salary from the deleted post to 
create a full time Food Safety Officer.   
 
As the change of establishment would be funded within the Food, Health & Safety 
Service budget there was no further financial impact on the general fund to 
consider. While there would be a small reduction in capacity in delivering into the 
health and safety enforcement function, this reduction would be managed within 
the existing functions of the relevant team. 
 

23.  Sudbrooke Drive Community Centre  

5



 
Purpose of Report 
 
1) To inform the Executive of the results of the evaluation of a community 

asset transfer proposal for the Sudbrooke Drive Community Centre 
buildings, car park and immediate environs. 

 
2) To ask the Executive to agree the principle of an asset transfer by way 

of agreement for lease and management agreement at a peppercorn 
rent and to authorise officers to negotiate and agree suitable terms and 
conclude the necessary formalities. 

 
3) To authorise officers to discuss the terms of a separate 

licence/management agreement, initially for part use but possibly future 
increased phased use, of the adjoining open space/pitches and to 
report back thereon at the appropriate time, noting longer-term 
aspirations for the grant of a lease alongside that of the centre. 

 
4) To agree, subject to the above, the allocation of some conditional s106 

capital funding and a one-off grant to assist with the transfer and 
planned improvements to the centre. 

 
5) To delegate to the Director of Development and Environmental 

Services the decision to proceed with the asset transfer of Sudbrooke 
Drive Community Centre. 

 
Decision 
 
1) That the principle of an asset transfer of the Sudbrooke Drive 

Community Centre buildings, car park and immediate environs (the 
Centre) to Lincolnshire Sport by way of agreement for lease and 
management agreement for a substantive term of 25 years be agreed.  
Officers were authorised to negotiate a suitable framework and terms, 
and to conclude the necessary formalities. 

 
2) That, noting the relevant circumstances, a disposal of the Centre at an 

undervalue and a lease at a peppercorn rent be approved. 
 
3) That officers be authorised to discuss the terms of a separate 

licence/management agreement for Lincolnshire Sport's initial part-use 
and potential future increased phased use, of the adjoining open 
space/pitches and to report back at the appropriate time, noting 
Lincolnshire Sport's longer-term aspirations for a lease alongside that 
of the Centre. 

 
4) That a one-off revenue grant payment to Lincolnshire Sport of £30,000 

be approved.  
 
5) That Lincolnshire Sport be provided with a capital grant from s106 

funding on condition that the works to improve the changing 
accommodation be completed within the respective time-frames of the 
s106 agreements.  

 

6



6) That the decision to asset transfer Sudbrooke Drive Community Centre 
be delegated to the Director of Development and Environmental 
Services. 

 
7) That officers be requested to incorporate within the agreement with 

Lincolnshire Sport the principle that future fees and charges be set on a 
basis which protected the most-disadvantaged low-income groups who 
might be service users in the future. 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Officers had received two separate expressions of interest in relation to the 
Sudbrooke Drive Community Centre buildings, car park and immediate environs, 
and in February 2014 the Executive had agreed a process for inviting bids for 
further evaluation by officers. This process had now been undertaken with one 
bid being received, which was from Lincolnshire Sport. The bid had been 
evaluated by officers using the agreed criteria and was considered to be a viable 
and beneficial proposal. 
 
In spite of efforts to develop use of the Centre, usage remained relatively low. 
The Centre would also require significant investment in terms of maintenance in 
the medium and long term. It was therefore opportune to consider alternative 
uses for the site, and, in view of the merits of the proposal being considered, the 
benefits to the Council and surrounding community justified a disposal for less 
than best consideration. 
 
Lincolnshire Sport’s proposal was based on the Centre being granted to it under 
an agreement for lease and management for a substantive term of not less than 
25 years and at a peppercorn rent. It aimed to attract grant funding and make 
early significant improvements to the Centre to benefit all existing users, in 
addition to aspirations to increase sporting opportunities on the adjoining open 
space/pitches. The latter would initially be facilitated under a separate 
licence/management agreement, with potential for a further lease transfer subject 
to separate consideration at the relevant time.  
 
Lincolnshire Sport had also requested a one-off £30,000 revenue grant to assist 
with the first year of operations while capital works were undertaken prior to its 
occupation of the premises. The grant would be contained within initial budget 
savings made by the transfer and could, depending on the date of transfer, cut 
across more than one financial year. After this initial year, it was anticipated that 
the Council would make a revenue saving of around £30,000 per annum. 
 
Lincolnshire Sport had also requested capital funding towards the project. This 
funding would be beneficial in allowing the obtainment of other grant funding; 
£27,261 of s106 contribution would therefore be put towards work on the 
changing rooms that supported the pitches. This funding would be conditional 
upon the works being undertaken on the changing facilities and within the 
respective time-frames for each s106 agreement. 
 
It was also noted that Lincolnshire Sport would welcome community activities and 
uses of the Centre, with current fees to be maintained, subject to inflationary 

7



increases, for existing community based hirers for a period of 5 years from the 
date of transfer. Members gave particular consideration to the need to protect the 
most-disadvantaged low-income group users from potential increases in fees and 
charges for use of the community centre. Noting the protection already offered by 
a five-year window during which fees and charges would be set in accordance 
with the Council’s, the Executive requested officers to seek further protections for 
community use which might be endangered by potential future increases in fees 
and charges. This would be negotiated by officers, who would report back to the 
Executive in the event that negotiations proved unsatisfactory. 
 

24.  Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 

RESOLVED that the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business because it was likely that if 
members of the public were present there would be a disclosure to them of 
‘exempt information’ as defined by Section 100I and Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
Proposed Negotiation of Contract – Birchwood Leisure Centre/Enforced 
Sale of Property. These items were considered in private as they were likely to 
disclose exempt information, as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. No representations had been received in relation to the 
proposals to consider these items in private. 
 

25.  Proposed Negotiation of Contract - Birchwood Leisure Centre  
 

Purpose of Report 
 
To agree to the commencement of negotiations for a contract extension for 
Birchwood Leisure Centre with the current leisure provider. 
 
Decision 
 
That officers be requested to commence negotiations on the proposed contract 
extension with Active Nation to 2025 for Birchwood Leisure Centre. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
As part of the fundamental review under the Towards Financial Sustainability 
Programme a number of potential savings had been identified for 2014 and 
onwards. A particular savings target had been identified against the Council’s 
procurement activities and a saving target of £1.15 million had been allocated, 
including significant savings from the Council’s larger contracts. This category 
included the leisure services contracts with Active Nation.  
 
In April 2014 the Council signed the extension to the Yarborough Leisure Centre 
contract to 2025 achieving a saving over the length of this contract of £4.1 million. 
In achieving this saving, it was acknowledged that the Council would be 
undertaking a similar exercise with regard to Birchwood Leisure Centre. 
 

8



The contract for the Birchwood Leisure Centre would terminate in 2016 and 
therefore authority was granted to officers to proceed with negotiations for an 
extension. 
 

26.  Enforced Sale of Property  
 

Purpose of Report 
 
To seek approval to instigate legal proceedings for the enforced sale of the 
property identified in the report. 
 
Decision 
 
That the instigation of legal proceedings for an order for the enforced sale of the 
property identified within the report provided on the open market in order to 
discharge the council tax debt owed be approved. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Council had been granted a final charging order totalling £2,229.70 on an 
empty property, which was obtained from court to secure the debt against the 
property. A visiting officer had attended the property which was found to be empty 
and uninhabitable. However, a council tax exemption was not applied as the 
property was not eligible, having previously been empty for more than two years.   
 
The Council had therefore obtained a charging order which secured the debt, and 
thus, in the event of a sale of the property by the owner, the sum owed would be 
discharged from the proceeds of sale after discharge of the mortgage. 
 
To date, no monies had been received in lieu of these debts and council tax 
continued to accrue on the property. As such, members approved the instigation 
of legal proceedings for the enforced sale in order to re-coup the funds owed to 
the Council. In particular, the Executive noted that the Council should be 
proactive in pursuing money owed to it and should actively promote its efforts in 
this regard. 
 

9



10

This page is intentionally blank.



  
 
EXECUTIVE 
 

28 JULY 2014 
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
LOCAL AUTHORITY MORTGAGE SCHEME  

REPORT BY: 
 

DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

ROB BAXTER, ACTING FINANCIAL SERVICES MANAGER 

 

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 To provide the Executive with a review of phase 1 of the Local Authority Mortgage 
Scheme (LAMS) and propose the retention of the further £1m within Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy, pending the availability of a new lender willing to 
facilitate a second phase. 
 

2. 
 

Executive Summary 
 

2.1 Phase 1 of the scheme set out to provide at least 38, as at the end of May 2014, 
44 mortgages have been completed with a further 6 loans progressing, indicating 
that a further 1 to 2 mortgages could be supported, within the remaining 
indemnity, bringing the total to 51/52, depending on the level of indemnity 
required. 
 

2.2 Feedback on the scheme to date has been positive; to date there have been no 
arrears or defaults on mortgages under the scheme and there are currently no 
indications that there will be.  
 

2.3 Unfortunately the limited monitoring information that has been available under the 
scheme, through the lender, means there are still some key unanswered 
questions that prevent a full evaluation of the scheme’s success to date.  Namely: 
 

• Who has benefited? 

• Are we reaching the right people? 

• Has there been an impact on the Housing list? 
 

2.4 The launch of the Government’s Help to Buy mortgage guarantee scheme in 
October 2013 has had a direct impact upon the LAMS scheme as it offers a 
nationally supported and promoted scheme that appears for Lincoln to offer very 
similar benefits to the LAMS scheme, however the one remaining advantage for 
residents of Lincoln of the LAMS scheme over the Help to Buy scheme is the 
more favourable interest rates payable on mortgages.  
  

2.5 As a consequence of the success of the Governments scheme, there are 
currently no lenders willing to participate in a second phase of lending, although a 
number of lenders have intimated that if the Government’s scheme ends sooner 
than planned they would seek to re-launch LAMS. 
 

2.6 Given the success of phase 1 it is recommended that pending the availability of a 
new lender willing to facilitate phase 2, the Executive approve the retention of the 

Item No. 3

11



   
further £1m within Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

3. Background  
 

3.1 The LAMS Scheme was developed by the Council’s treasury management 
advisors (Sector Treasury Management Services) and was designed to help 
increase the supply of affordable housing for those who need it, and to help the 
local housing market and thereby the local economy.  The scheme was designed 
to minimise the financial impact on the Council, and to work in partnership with a 
range of experts in the market, i.e. residential mortgage lenders. 
 

3.2 The scheme allows councils to provide support to first time buyers and is aimed at 
providing help for those potential buyers who can afford mortgage payments, but 
not the initial deposit, to get on to the property ladder.  The scheme requires the 
Council to provide a financial indemnity of up to 20% of a mortgage for potential 
buyers who qualify for Council support, and who meet the strict lending criteria set 
by the lender. The scheme does not promote reckless lending or provide un-
affordable mortgages; it simply reduces the value of deposit currently required. 
  

3.3 Potential buyers approach the lender directly and the lender deals with the 
Council. The Council does not know the identity of the individuals concerned, and 
have no role in approving individual mortgages.  The Bank assesses the buyer 
against its own credit criteria, as well as the Council’s criteria. 

3.4 In support of the Council’s Strategic Priorities of increasing the supply of more 
affordable housing and reducing poverty and disadvantage a £2m LAMS scheme 
was approved by Council on 6th March 2012 as part of the General Investment 
Programme in the MTFS 2012-17 and in the Strategic Plan 2012-17.  
Subsequently it was proposed, and approved by the Executive on the 16th April 
2012  that the scheme be launched in 2 phases starting with a £1m cash-backed 
scheme with a recognised national provider, that being Lloyds Bank. 
 

3.5 The objectives of the scheme were to: 
 

• Assist first time buyers to get a foot onto the housing ladder 
 

• Reduce the pressure of demand for social/affordable housing by potentially 
removing eligible local first time buyers from the Housing Register 

 

• Potentially free up social/affordable housing for those in greater need as 
existing tenants are supported as first time buyers through the scheme 

 

• Help the local housing market and thereby the local economy 
 

3.6 The setting of the maximum indemnity limit of £1m for the first phase was one of 
the 3 qualifying criteria set by the Council.  The second criteria set was that the 
maximum loan size was set at £125k, to bring a range of entry level properties 
from flats to 3 bedroom family homes into the scheme to support first time buyers, 
helping families move out of rented accommodation, and free up affordable 
housing in the City. The third criteria was the geographical area covered by the 
scheme which was set to include all postcodes within the City.  Based on these 

12



   
criteria it was anticipated that at least 38 mortgages could be supported under the 
first phase. 
 

3.7 At the time of launching the first phase of the scheme it was also agreed that  
following a review of the success of this phase an extension up to a maximum of 
£2 million could subsequently be recommended.  This could include extending the 
scheme to cover other lenders as they enter the scheme, providing additional 
choice locally. At the time Sector were in discussions with a number of lenders 
about entering the scheme. 
 

4. Phase One - Achievement of Outcomes 
 

4.1 At scheme inception it was understood that the monitoring information on the 
scheme would be limited and therefore the impact on the objectives difficult to 
measure.  Information available to the Council allows the following assessment of 
outcomes. 
 

4.2 Of the £1m invested in the indemnity for phase 1 the latest position as 31 May 
2014 is: 
 
Objective 1 - Assisting first time buyers to get a foot onto the housing ladder: 
 

• 44 mortgage loans have completed under the scheme, representing: 

• £4.6m spend on property within the city 

• £4.4m mortgage lending 

• £0.846m indemnity used 
 

• 6 loans are progressing, representing: 
o £710k spend on property 
o £656k mortgage lending 
o £124k indemnity 

 

• £30k indemnity is remaining (representing an opportunity for approx 1 to 2 
further purchased under the scheme) 

 

• Lincoln’s scheme averages 0.5 loans per week.  Our nearest neighbour 
participating in the scheme (South Kesteven) averages 0.6 mortgages a 
week.   

 
4.3 Objective 2  - Reducing the pressure of demand for social/affordable housing by 

potentially removing eligible local first time buyers from the Housing Register 
 

• The restricted information available to the Council under the scheme does 
not allow us to identify beneficiaries of the scheme and therefore we are 
unable to link mortgagees to the Council’s housing list. 

 

• All mortgage applications are dealt with directly by Lloyds Bank and 
therefore we do not have evidence of the number of our customers who 
have enquired/applied/benefited from under the scheme. 

 
4.4 Objective 3 - Potentially freeing up social/affordable housing for those in greater 

need as existing tenants are supported as first time buyers through the scheme. 

13



   
 

• Monitoring information to support this objective is not available under the 
scheme as we are unable to identify beneficiaries of the scheme or their 
previous address.   

 

• As at 31st May 2014: 

• 95.3% of the mortgages completed under the scheme were to applicants 
from within the City of Lincoln Boundary 

• The 4.7% inward migration was from LN8 and NR32 
 

4.5 Objective 4 - Helping the local housing market and thereby the local economy. 
 

• We have no direct information on this, although do have the following 
anecdotal feedback from beneficiaries of the LAMS scheme:  

 
“We are really grateful the council introduced this scheme, it has completely 
changed our lives. We were in limbo - we could afford mortgage payments, but as 
we were paying rent were not able to save a large amount towards a deposit. We 
were astonished when we found out that help was available to us. If it wasn’t for 
this scheme we would have been unable to buy for at least another three years.”  
Anon  (Cecil Street) 
 
“We can buy for less than we pay in rent” 
Anon 
 
“Without this scheme we would never have been able to buy a home” 
Anon 
 

“It has meant that we can have a family home, near local schools and family and 
friends” 
Anon 
 

“It has made our dreams come true and we didn’t think it was possible” 
Anon 
 

• It is also anticipated that new home owners will be spending in the local 
economy (e.g. solicitors, removals, painting & decorating materials, home 
appliances and furnishings) however, we have no clear evidence to 
support this. 

 
5. Government’s Help to Buy Scheme  

 
5.1 The Help to Buy scheme was introduced by the government as part of the 2013 

Budget, it is aimed at assisting the property market and replaces other 
government housing schemes in place. At the time of launching the Council’s 
LAMS scheme there was no indication that Government was considering a 
nationwide launch of a similar scheme.  The first phase was introduced in April 
2013 –the Help to Buy equity loan scheme to support the sale of new build 
properties, which has had a positive impact on demand. The second phase - Help 
to Buy mortgage guarantee, was rolled out in October 2013 and has a direct 
impact upon the LAMS scheme as it offers a nationally supported and promoted 
scheme that appears for Lincoln to offer very similar benefits to the LAMS 

14



   
scheme. A summary of the Government’s  Help to Buy mortgage guarantee along 
with other schemes under the ‘Help to Buy’ banner are provided in appendix A. 
 

5.2 The mortgage guarantee phase is targeted at all buyers and all property types to 
a maximum value of £600k and also requires the applicant to have a 5% deposit 
and a further 15% will be guaranteed by the government. The key difference from 
the LAMS Scheme is that LAMS is designed to target local needs, focus on local 
property prices, has lower interest rates for mortgage applicants and enables the 
local authority to play an active role in determining demand and responding 
accordingly. The key advantage for residents of Lincoln of the LAMS scheme over 
the Help to Buy scheme is the interest rate payable on mortgages.  A 
representative rate on a LAMS mortgage with Lloyds Bank is 3.94% (3 years 
fixed), while current examples of Help to Buy mortgage rates are:   

• Lloyds – two-year, fixed-rate mortgage starting at 5.19%, with £995 fee 
(5.59% with no fee) 

• RBS and NatWest - two-year, fixed-rate mortgage starting at 4.99% for 
those with a 5% deposit, with no fee. 

• Halifax offering a rate of 5.19% with a £995 fee for those with the same 
deposit. 

 
6. Phase 2 

 
6.1 Given the key advantage of more favourable interest rates and the belief that the 

two schemes could run side-by-side, the Council were keen to continue with the 
operation of its LAMS scheme and were seeking to launch an extension to the 
scheme with the release of a second phase of £1m. 
 

6.2 However, Lloyds Bank were confirmed as the first participating lender in the 
Government scheme and subsequently announced that they would not be 
committing to any new or refreshed schemes because of a possible conflict with 
the Government's scheme. They have however intimated that if and when the 
Help to Buy scheme ends they will seek to re-launch LAMS.  In respect of the first 
phase of the scheme which is already in place Lloyds will continue until the £1m 
in funding from the Council is committed.  As per paragraph 4.2 above this is only 
likely to fund a further 1 or 2 applications. 
 

6.3 This position has also been taken by other lenders and at this point in time there 
are currently no lenders willing to participate in a second phase of lending with the 
Council. Similar to Lloyds a number of lenders have intimated that if the 
Government’s scheme ends sooner than planned they would also seek to re-
launch LAMS.  Sector Treasury Management Services are still actively pursuing 
support for the LAMS scheme and continue to meet national lenders to try and 
secure an alternative lender for the scheme and the Council.  Despite the 
Council’s desire to launch a second phase of the successful scheme it is not 
therefore possible to do so at this time. 
 

6.4 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2014/15 and the MTFS 14-19 
include an allocation of £1m for phase 2 of the LAMS scheme. It is proposed that 
pending the availability of a new lender willing to facilitate phase 2, the Executive 
approve the retention of the further £1m within Councils Treasury Management 
Strategy. 
 

15



   
7. Strategic Priorities 

 
7.1 The scheme directly supported the Council’s strategic priorities as follows; 

 

• Reducing poverty and disadvantage – by providing indemnity for the initial 
deposit this may mean more individuals purchase their own property rather 
than seek alternative housing provision. 

• Seek to increase the supply of affordable housing to rent or buy – by 
assisting the first time buyers this helps to stimulate the property market. 

•     A fit for purpose council – being an “enabler” for the scheme with minimum 
financial risk. 

 
8. Organisational Impacts 

 
8.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 

 The financial implications are contained within the main body of the report. 

8.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules 

 There are no direct legal implications arising as a result of this report. The 
Housing Act 1985 (as amended) provides the statutory framework for the scheme. 
The Act allows Local Authorities to “advance money to a person for the purpose 
of acquiring a house” (section 435 of the act). Section 442 of the act allows a local 
authority to grant an indemnity to a lender to enable the lender to give the 
potential buyer a mortgage.  
 

9. 
 

Recommendations 
 
The Executive is recommended to: 
 

9.1 Note the success of phase 1 of the LAMS scheme. 
 

9.2 Approve the retention of the further £1m within Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy, pending the availability of a new lender willing to facilitate a second 
phase. 
 

 
 
Key Decision 
 

No 

Do the Exempt 
Information Categories 
Apply 
 

No 

Call in and Urgency: Is 
the decision one to which 
Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply? 
 

No 

Does the report contain Yes 

16



   
Appendices? 
 
List of Background 
Papers: 
 

None. 
 

Lead Officer: Rob Baxter, Acting Financial Services Manager 
Telephone 873867. 

 
 

17



 Appendix A 

Help to Buy – Government Supported Schemes 
 
1. Help to Buy mortgage guarantees 

Available for 3 years to 31 December 2016, the Help to Buy mortgage guarantee will 
help purchasers buy a home with a deposit of only 5% of the purchase price. 

Help to Buy mortgage guarantees will be open to both first-time buyers and home 
movers (not available for buy to let).  

The guarantee is provided to the lender. 

To qualify for a Help to Buy mortgage guarantee the property to be purchased must: 

• be offered for sale at £600,000 or less  

• not be a shared ownership or shared equity purchase  

The property can be newly built or already existing. 

Not limited to first time buyers 

No limit on the level of purchasers’ income.  

2. Help to Buy equity loans 

Help to Buy equity loans are open to both first-time buyers and home movers on new-
build homes worth up to £600,000 (no buy to let’s).  

With a Help to Buy equity loan: 

• Deposit required of at least 5% of the property price as a deposit  

• Government will give loan for up to 20% of the price  

• Mortgage of up to 75% to cover the rest  

3. Shared ownership schemes 

Shared ownership schemes are provided through housing associations. Buyers 
purchase a share of their home (between 25% and 75% of the home’s value) and pay 
rent on the remaining share.  

Buyers will need to take out a mortgage to pay for their share of the home’s purchase 
price. 

Eligibility: 

• household earns £60,000 a year or less  

• first-time buyer (or you used to own a home, but can’t afford to buy one now)  

• rent a council or housing association property  

There’s help from another Help to Buy scheme called ‘Older People’s Shared 
Ownership’ if you’re aged 55 or over.  It works in the same way as the general shared 
ownership scheme, but you can only buy up to 75% of your home. Once you own 75% 
you won’t have to pay rent on the remaining share. 

18



   

4. NewBuy 

Enables the purchase of a newly built home with a deposit of only 5% of the purchase 
price. 

To qualify for NewBuy, the new home must be: 

• a new build – being sold for the first time or for the first time in its current form (eg 
a new flat that used to be part of a house)  

• priced £500,000 or less  

• the purchasers main home (can’t use NewBuy to buy a second home or a buy-to-
let property)  

• owned fully by the purchaser (can’t use NewBuy for shared ownership or shared 
equity purchases)  

• built by a builder taking part in the scheme  

To be eligible the purchaser must be either: 

• a UK citizen  

• someone with the right to remain indefinitely in the UK  

Purchasers don’t have to be first-time buyers and there’s no limit on level of income. But 
you can’t use NewBuy with any other publicly funded mortgage scheme. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



20

This page is intentionally blank.



EXECUTIVE  28 JULY 2014 
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

LINCOLN BIG BALLOT NOMINATION  

DIRECTORATE: 
 

DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

NEIL CUTTELL, REGENERATION MANAGER 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To inform members of the Lincoln BIG ballot, the consultation of the Lincoln BIG 

Prospectus To request Executive to delegate authority to formally respond to the 
BID prospectus consultation and to identify and nominate an officer to complete 
the Ballot papers for City of Lincoln Council properties.  
 

2. Executive Summary     
 

2.1 Lincoln BIG will be undertaking their third voting process from September-
November 2014 for their operational period April 2015-March 2020.  
 

2.2 This report seeks to identify the officer responsible for completing the ballot 
papers. The report also seeks to outline the process that Lincoln BIG will 
undertake, what the City Council’s role and responsibilities will be. The report also 
seeks to request delegated authority for the Director in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Planning Policy & Regeneration to formally respond to the BID 
prospectus consultation by mid August 2014.  
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

Lincoln BIG is a business controlled by a board of directors drawn from city centre 
stakeholders. Every five years business rate payers in the city centre are invited to 
vote for the continuation of the Lincoln BIG for the next five years. All business 
rate payers in the area have a vote on the proposals and to go ahead more than 
50% of those who vote have to vote ‘yes’. Those in favour must also represent at 
least 50% of the rateable value of those who vote.  
 

3.2 
 

Lincoln BIG last undertook the ballot in 2009, whereupon 877 ballot papers were 
issued with 467 papers returned representing a turnout of 53.24%. These votes 
were made up as follows: 

• 365 ‘yes’ votes 

• 97 ‘no’ votes 

• 5 spoilt papers 
 
Votes in favour were 79% excluding spoilt papers. 
 
The rateable value of the ‘yes’ votes = £18,376,809 (85%) 
The rateable value of the ‘no’ votes = £3,120,400 
 

Item No. 4

21



3.3 
 

Lincoln BIG were therefore mandated to continue their work for the period April 
2010-March 2015, and enacted their 2010 Prospectus pursuing the core priorities 
of: 

• Events & Promotions 

• Evening Economy Management 

• Lincoln in Bloom 

• Safety Strategy 

• Street Management 

• Access Initiatives  
 

4. Main Body of Report 
 

4.1 The proposed timetable for the consultation on the Prospectus is;  
Publication of BID Prospectus – 23rd July 2014  
Consultation 23rd July – 5th September 2014  
Final Prospectus to go out with Ballot papers – 25th September 2014  
 
The proposed timetable for the ballot in 2014 is; 
Notice of ballot – 5th September 2014 
Ballot papers out to eligible voters – 25th September 2014 
Close of ballot – 4th November 2014  
Count – after 5pm on the 4th November 2014  
 
In BIG instigating the ballot, the City Council will be provided with votes for the 
properties it owns. An officer will need to be identified to complete the ballot 
papers for the City Council properties. It is recommended that this officer is the 
Estates Manager who has responsibility in the day to day management of the City 
Council assets and estates.  
 
At the time of writing this report, the BIG prospectus has yet to be published, and 
consultation period opened, although a copy may be available to be tabled at the 
meeting of Executive. It is recommended that given the timetables stated above 
delegated authority is given to the Director of Development & Environmental 
Services in consultation with the Portfolio Holder to complete a response to this 
consultation on behalf of the City Council. 
 
An all member workshop will take place in August 2014 to understand the impacts 
for the City Council of the vote, should a ‘yes’ or ‘no’ vote be returned by the 
voters. This workshop will seek views on how the City Council will vote in October 
2014.  
 
A report with an analysis of the issues identified within the workshop will be 
provided on the 22nd September 2014 Executive with a recommendation on the 
way the City Council should vote, and how we should engage as a stakeholder 
within the publicity surrounding the vote.  
 

5. Strategic Priorities  
 

5.1 Growing the local economy – Lincoln BIG have been a beneficial partnership for 
the City of Lincoln yielding private sector investment of over £350,000 per annum 
to invest within the city. The BIG Prospectus is expected to identify numerous 
initiatives and projects that will assist in developing a prosperous local economy.  

22



 
 

6. Organisational Impacts  
 

6.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 
 
There is a financial impact for the local authority in both undertaking the 
management of the ballot of approximately £13,000 income received every five 
years. There is also a financial impact of the vote itself and these costs will be 
presented to Executive in the 22 September 2014 report to ensure Executive are 
fully apprised of the impact on the Council of the votes.  
 

7. Risk Implications 
 

7.1 (i)        There are no other options in the nomination of an officer to complete the 
City Council’s ballot papers. 
 

7.2 (ii)        There are no risks in the nomination of an officer to complete the City 
Council’s ballot papers.  
 

8. Recommendation  
 

8.1 
 
 
8.2 

To approve the nomination of the Director of Resources or relevant nominated 
deputy to be responsible for completing the City Council’s ballot papers. 
 
Further it is recommended that delegated authority be given to the Director for 
Development & Environmental Services in consultation with the relevant Portfolio 
Holder to provide a consultation response to the BIG Prospectus.  

  
Is this a key decision? 
 

No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

No 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 
 

None 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
 

Lead Officer: Neil Cuttell, Regeneration Manager 
Telephone (01522) 873466 

 

23



24

This page is intentionally blank.



EXECUTIVE 28 JULY 2014  
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR CRIME AND POLICING ACT 

REPORT BY: 
 

JOHN BIBBY, DIRECTOR OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY 
SERVICES 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SAM BARSTOW, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND ANTI-SOCIAL 
BEHAVIOUR MANAGER 
 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To provide the Executive with an overview of the new Anti-Social Behaviour 

(ASB), Crime and Policing Act and highlight the potential implications for the 
Council.  
 

2. Executive Summary     
 

2.1 This report identifies the challenges and opportunities faced by the Council under 
the new ASB, Crime and Policing Act.  The Act received Royal Assent on 13 
March 2014 however commencement dates for the ASB provisions have not yet 
been published.  
 

2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 

The overarching aim of the Act is to provide more effective powers to tackle ASB; 
protect victims and communities and treat the underlying behaviour of 
perpetrators. An outline of the new powers is provided in the main body of the 
report, showing how it will impact both in terms of expectations on local authorities, 
and the ability of local authorities to respond. 
 
The Council will need to decide how it wishes to use certain new powers afforded 
to it and to its partners to best effect, within the resources available.  
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 

The coalition government has given commitments to take steps to reduce 
antisocial behaviour in communities. It has previously stated that it does not see 
this as a Police function alone, and indeed has made partnership engagement to 
resolve anti-social behaviour a statutory requirement. 
 
In March 2014 Parliament passed the ASB, Crime and Policing Act. The Act has 
received Royal Assent however commencement dates for the ASB provisions 
have not yet been confirmed. The Home Office anticipate commencement dates 
for most provisions in the new Act will be confirmed in the autumn of 2014. 
 

3.3 It is intended that the new powers provided by this Act will reduce ‘red tape’ and 
thereby reduce opportunity to use lack of powers or complexity of legislation as 
excuses for inaction. Furthermore, the Act is designed to enable authorities to act 
at a much earlier stage; some of the tools are very much designed to facilitate 
early intervention, and in some instances even with the potential to take action 

Item No. 5

25



before a problem occurs.  
  
4. The new Act  

 
4.1 This Act replaces 19 existing powers dealing with ASB with 6 broader powers 

which are intended to streamline procedures to allow a quicker response to ASB. 
 

4.2 The government envisage that these new powers will make it easier for victims 
and communities to take action against ASB and reduce repeat violations. The Act 
has 14 parts: 

• Parts 1-6 deal with ASB 

• Parts 7-10 deal with Dangerous Dogs, Firearms, Protection from Sexual 
Offences and Prohibitions on Forced Marriages 

• The remainder of the Act addresses policing, extradition, criminal justice 
and court fees. 

 
4.3 The new powers signal a fundamental change in the way ASB can be tackled with 

powers that are broader and less prescriptive but conversely are therefore more 
open to interpretation. Indeed the government have specifically avoided attempts 
to define ASB entirely and have instead applied specific tests to each of the new 
ASB tools, preferring this to be tested and further specified in case law, through 
the use of the new powers.  
 

4.4 The new powers include the following: 
 • Injunction to Prevent Nuisance and Annoyance (IPNA) : This replaces 

the Anti-Social Behaviour Injunction (ASBI), Drinking Banning Order (DBO) 
on application, Anti-Social Behaviour Order (ASBO) on application, 
Intervention Orders and Individual Support Orders 

 • Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO): This replaces ASBO on conviction and 
the Drinking Banning Order (DBO) on conviction 

 • Stronger eviction powers for social landlords: A new “absolute ground” 
for eviction eliminates the judge’s discretion in granting an order for 
possession and requires the judge to grant the order if certain conditions 
are met. By removing judicial discretion it is believed that this ground will 
greatly reduce the time and cost of an eviction based on ASB. There are 
also 2 new discretionary grounds for eviction: a) rioting and b) criminality 
against the landlord or their staff. 

 • Closure Notices and Closure Order: A police officer of at least inspector 
rank or the local authority may issue a Closure Notice i.e. close a property 
and prohibit access for a maximum of 48 hours in certain circumstances.  
This may in certain circumstances be followed up by an application for a 
Closure Order prohibiting access to the premises for a further specified 
period. 

 • Police Dispersal Powers/Community Protection Notice/Public Space 
Protection Orders: Powers to exclude individuals or groups from certain 
areas for up to 48 hours/Powers to require individuals to take action to clear 
rubbish etc and to fine and do the work in default/Powers to ban the 
drinking of alcohol, close parks etc to prevent anti-social behaviour. 

• Community Trigger: A victim, 3rd party or local elected representative can 
file a report regarding repeat ASB and if the report meets the threshold a 
Multi-Agency Case Review must be carried out. The threshold is set locally 

26



and must include the frequency of complaints of ASB as a criteria and the 
threshold for triggering a review cannot exceed 3 complaints in a six month 
period.  

• Community Remedy: The Community Remedy is an alternative to court 
order punishment for perpetrators of ASB and the victim must be consulted 
on the sanction to be offered to the offender.  The menu of sanctions may 
include: mediation, Acceptable Behaviour Contract, Community Service, 
Monetary restitution to the victim. 

 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 

 
The Act opens up a number of issues and significant change including: 
 
a) The ability, in certain circumstances, for action to be taken to prevent ASB 
before it occurs, where there are reasonable grounds to believe it may happen. 
 
b) The possibility for enforcement to include for positive measures, not just 
punishment (so for example an offender may be asked to attend rehabilitation 
courses to seek to address the behaviour that caused the ASB). 
 
c) There is now a two tier test in the legislation for what the court will consider as 
constituting Anti-Social Behaviour. A lower threshold will now apply where the ASB 
is affecting individuals in their homes. 
 
d) There are significantly more cases where the Council will need to work closely 
with the Police and Crown Prosecution Service in order to access and apply some 
of the powers within the Act. 
 
e) Some dispersal powers no longer require the Police to consult with Local 
Authorities 
 
f) There are greater opportunities for the use of Fixed Penalty Notices to be issued 
by suitably trained and authorised staff. 
 
g) A subtle change to the broad definition of ASB opens up the opportunity for 
Councils to deal with domestic abuse 
 
h) The Police will no longer be entirely responsible for monitoring and breaching 
court imposed orders, the Council will need to fulfil this role where powers of arrest 
do not exist. 
 
i) Council officers may be authorised to enforce a Public Space Protection Order – 
which will ultimately replace the Designated Public Place Order, dog control orders 
and others.  
 
j) It is also important to note that where positive measures can be included within a 
prosecution; these measures have to be clearly identified by the authority taking 
the action. There is also a requirement for them to monitor compliance with the 
positive action.  
 
k) The introduction of the Community Trigger may place a significant call on 
resources in undertaking multi-agency reviews. 
 
The net effect of these changes means that local authorities should have more 

27



 
 
 
 
 
 
4.7 
 
 
 
4.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.9 
 
 
 
 
 
4.10 
 
 
 
 
 
5. 
 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

opportunity to address a wider range of issues, however the introduction of these 
new powers may result in an increased expectation from victims of ASB. The 
widening of the scope in terms of domestic abuse, breaches of orders, monitoring 
and positive requirements carries the potential for significant increases in demand 
and/or expectations but resource implications cannot be quantified at this stage.  
 
Whilst third party organisations are now preparing to be able to provide positive 
intervention solutions, these will need to be paid for by prosecuting authorities, 
where partners and/or other third party funding cannot be identified. 
 
Under the Community Trigger a victim of ASB who has reported a problem at least 
three times in six months can seek a formal ASB Case Review. This will take the 
form similar to a Serious Case Review, or a Domestic Homicide Review. An 
independent chair will call representatives from all relevant organisations together 
to account for their actions in a particular case. The review will be fully 
documented and published. There will be some safeguards to prevent abuse of 
the system, but in principle it is a time consuming and intensive process that could 
impact heavily on council resources.  
 
This new Act is a ‘game changer’ for ASB issues, and will raise expectations on 
local authorities, both from victims of ASB and from central government. Workload 
is expected to increase significantly, especially in the early stages, as it will be 
necessary to review all actions taken under older legislation, such as DPPOs, and 
to ensure robust processes are in place for utilising the new powers. 
 
Finally the impact of Community Remedy is unclear. It will certainly add to 
workloads as it places a new onus on local authorities. It is also thought likely that 
there will be a backlog of long standing complainants who will wish to have their 
complaint heard at the highest public level as soon as the opportunity presents 
itself. 
 
Impact and Action 
 
The Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership is aware of these legislative 
changes and has agreed that a united and consistent response is required. The 
County Community Safety Co-ordinator is progressing work to review current 
multi-agency policies, protocols and working arrangements and to develop 
process maps and method statements to cover all authorities; the intent being to 
ensure consistent county-wide approach. 
 
In the mean time in parallel with the above work, mindful of the need to be ready 
for the change, the City Council’s Public Protection and Anti-social Behaviour 
(PPASB) team are undertaking several actions in readiness: 
 

a) Reviewing all current enforcement processes and provide new processes to 
align with the new powers 

b) Workshopping existing problem issues with PPASB enforcement staff, and 
other potentially impacted departments, so as to seek opportunities within 
the new powers, and thus add to the enforcement processes 

c) Reviewing all actions taken under existing legislation, and seek to have 
these reviewed and revised under the new powers as appropriate 

d) Identifying a suitable trainer for staff to go through the new powers in detail 

28



e) Developing a generic briefing to be given to all front line officers and 
members. 

f) Giving consideration, through additions to processes, to the additional 
demands likely to be placed on PPASB staff and the potential implications 
of: acting earlier, monitoring breaches of orders, positive requirements and 
domestic abuse  

g) Engaging with partners, in particular the Police, to assess the impact and 
discuss adjustments to partnership processes 

h) Engaging with the office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, Local 
Police Area Commander and other interested parties to asses the required 
local threshold for the community trigger, along with the format 

i) Considering and assessing the potential resource implications. 
 

6. Strategic Priorities  
 

 
6.1 

(i) Reducing Poverty & Disadvantage 
Residents living in areas of high deprivation suffer disproportionately from the 
impacts of ASB. Well resourced and targeted use of the new ASB powers may 
help to alleviate the impact of ASB and improve community cohesion and the 
health and wellbeing of those suffering the affects of ASB. 

  
 
6.2 

(ii) Improving the Council’s landlord service 
The new powers within the Act, including revisions to the powers of eviction for 
ASB, will assist the Council’s landlord service in responding to breaches of 
tenancy conditions.    

  
7. Organisational Impacts  

 
 
7.1 
 
 
 
7.2 

(i) Finance  
There are no immediate financial implications arising from the recommendations in 
this report. The full resource implications are as yet unknown but there is likely to 
be a need to invest in training for staff. 
 
Income from any Fixed Penalty Notices has to be spent back on services related 
to the offence. The income derived will be directly proportionate to the resources 
deployed in enforcing Fixed Penalty Offences.   
 

 
7.3 

(ii) Legal Implications including Procurement Rules  
This report relates to a new Act that will remove 19 pieces of legislation and 
replace them with 6. It impacts in many areas of enforcement as outlined in the 
main body of the report. 
 

 
7.4 

(iii) Human Resources 
There are no immediate HR implications; however implementation will require staff 
to be given appropriate training and support in implementing the new powers. 
Roles and responsibilities within the PPASB may need to change and where 
necessary job descriptions updated once the full responsibilities are understood at 
an operational level.  Any changes in job descriptions will be subject to formal 
consultation and if necessary job evaluation which may impact on staffing costs. 

  
 
 

(iv) Significant Community Impact  
 

29



7.5 These legislative changes are designed to have a significant community impact in 
preventing and limiting anti-social behaviour.  
 

8. Risk Implications 
 

8.1 (i)       Options Explored  
           The Council has no option other than to implement and comply with the  
 legislation.  
 

 
8.2 

(ii)        Key risks associated with the preferred approach 
It is expected that the new powers will be widely publicised and as such 
expectations on local authorities will rise. This combined with the new Community 
Trigger powers may potentially increase the workload for PPASB team. The full 
extent of the impact of the new Act will not be known until some time after 
introduction. Resource implications will need to be kept under review. 
 

9. Recommendation  
 

9.1 
 

Executive note the report and the potential implications of the Policing Crime & 
ASB Act.  Further reports will be brought in due course once the commencement 
dates for the new legislation are known. 

 
 
Key Decision 
 

Yes 
 

Do the Exempt 
Information Categories 
Apply? 
 

No 
 

Call in and Urgency:  
 

No 

List of Background 
Papers: 
 

None 

Lead Officer:   Sam Barstow Telephone 873378 
  
 

30



EXECUTIVE 28 JULY 2014 
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

LINCOLN INTEGRATED TRANSORT STRATEGY:2013 
PROGRESS REVIEW 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT & ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

KATE ELLIS, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To inform the Executive about the Lincoln Integrated Transport Strategy (LITS) 2013 

Progress Review and highlight any key issues or implications for the Council. 
 

2. Executive Summary     
 

2.1 The Lincoln Integrated Transport Strategy (LITS) presents a plan for long term 
transport investment in the city and its surrounding area. This report presents the output 
from a Progress Review, which has assessed progress made in delivering LITS since 2008 
and provides a more detailed programme of delivery, of both established and emerging 
transport improvements, over the short, medium and long term.  
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

LITS was first published in early 2006 and revised in 2008. It is the product of a 
partnership between Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), City of Lincoln Council 
(CoLC), West Lindsey District Council (WLDC) and North Kesteven District Council 
(NKDC). The area covered by LITS is shown below: 
 
 
 

Item No. 6

31



 
Area Covered by LITS 

 
 

3.2 
 

The broad aim of the LITS is to provide a vision for improving the infrastructure for users of 
all modes of transport. It also recognises that a good transport network can provide the 
conditions to support economic growth and a better environment. 
 

4. Main Body of Report 
 

4.1 The original LITS strategy had six broad objectives. These were expanded in 2008 and 
have been revised in 2013  to take account of changes in policy and focus for transport over 
the past few years. Examples of the objectives include: 
 

• To assist the sustainable economic growth of Lincolnshire through transport 
infrastructure Improvements 

 

• To remove strategic road-based freight from Lincoln and other adversely affected 
communities through encouraging the use of alternative modes and improving links 
to the Primary Road Network 

 

• To ensure that the transport infrastructure meets the needs of existing and proposed 

32



developments especially: 
 

� In the regeneration priorities in the Lincoln Policy Area 
� Including minimising congestion through the promotion of walking, cycling, public 

transport and minor highway improvements 
� Parking provision and management 

 
(See Page 3 of LITS background paper for a complete list of objectives) 
 

4.2 A range of transport improvements were identified for the LITS with an 
indication of the likely timescale for the implementation of these improvements: 
 

 
 
 

4.3 In relation to Lincoln specifically, LITS identified five broad areas through which the Strategy 
would deliver benefits for the City: 
 
City Centre 
 

• Planning permission has been secured for the first phase of the East-West Link and 
works are due to commence in late 2014 with the road opening towards the end of 
2016 at the latest. 

 

• A planning application for Lincoln Eastern Bypass was submitted in December 2012 
and with an enquiry having taking place in March 2014 with the currently planned to 
open during the 2016/17 financial year. 

 

• The proposed public transport interchange, being developed privately, will provide a 

33



modern facility for the city centre, more closely locating provision for rail, buses and 
taxis. This will substantially improve the integration of public transport modes in the 
city centre and make bus and rail travel more attractive overall, with the knock-on 
effects of higher patronage and lower car use. 

 
4.4 Accessibility 

 

• As well as the completion of Quality Bus Corridors 1, telematics have enabled buses 
to be given priority at a number of signalised junctions, saving between 30 to 60 
seconds per location. This will be further rolled out as more buses are fitted with the 
equipment and further QBCs and potential Park & Ride corridor improvements are 
implemented 

 

• The development of a new Parking Strategy for the city, which is currently ongoing, 
will also present opportunities to lock in the benefits of the highway schemes, 
particularly when coupled with the development of potential Park & Ride sites. A 
number of actions from the previous Parking Strategy have been implemented which 
support LITS including the zoning of parking types and harmonisation of charges 
within those zones.  

 

• The Community Travel Zones implemented as part of LITS have supported travel by 
non-car modes, increasing accessibility and reducing severance through the delivery 
of a range of schemes including pedestrian crossings, traffic calming, speed 
restrictions and cycle routes. These improvements can now be coupled with those 
being delivered as part of the Access LN6 Local Sustainable Transport Fund project 
which will deliver a significant range of both hard and soft measures over a three 
year period, to also increase accessibility and reduce severance. 

 
4.5 Environmental 

 

• While the Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) remain in place in Lincoln, the 
original city centre AQMA plus a city-wide AQMA introduced in February 
2008,reductions in traffic in the city over the past few years have resulted in 
improved air quality. The implementation of Lincoln Eastern Bypass and East-West 
Link, complemented by other traffic management, public transport and public realm 
improvements, will help to ensure that further environmental improvements are 
secured and that air quality will continue improve to a level where the Air Quality 
Management Areas are no longer required and impact on specific sensitive receptors 
and the historic areas are reduced. 

 
4.6 Safety 

 

• LITS remains on course to deliver significant safety improvements over the 
next few years. Already, smaller scale walking, cycling and traffic management 
schemes have improved safety at individual locations and the reductions in traffic 
experienced in Lincoln over the past few years have contributed to fewer accidents 
(accidents decreased by 7% between 2008 and 2012). However, significant clusters 
of accidents remain on the highway network and further work will be required to 
investigate these and identify improvements. 
 
 
 

34



4.7 Economic Regeneration 
 

• LITS will remove through traffic, reducing congestion and supporting a healthier 
environment. Pedestrians and cyclists will experience benefits from traffic reductions, 
reduced severance and improved environment, which in turn will make Lincoln a 
more attractive location to shop, visit and do business. 

 

• Accessing the city centre by non-car modes will be made easier, through bus priority, 
Park & Ride and the new public transport interchange, supporting access to the jobs 
market for those without the use of a car. A new Parking Strategy will also look to 
support the local economy while also balancing the need to deliver carbon emission 
reductions. 

 

• Furthermore, LITS has a vital role to play in the plans for significant expansion of the 
city through the Sustainable Urban Extensions. Lincoln Eastern Bypass and 
Swanpool Link will facilitate major developments identified within the Local Plan and 
without these schemes and the supporting measures contained in LITS, future 
growth plans will not be achieved. 

 
4.8 Sixteen individual outcomes were identified as part of the Strategy; these state the 

detailed, in some cases measurable, aims of the Strategy.  
 
A selection of the outcomes particularly relevant to Lincoln are included below for 
information. These outcomes are deemed to have been delivered or significant progress 
has been made towards delivery of major elements of delivery and are on programme. 
(Pages 15-23 of the LITS report contains complete details of all outcomes) 
 

• A reduction of ‘through trips’ within the urban area, particularly trips passing though 
the city centre and HGV trips.  

 

• An improvement in air quality within the urban area (particularly the AQMA within 
      central Lincoln) 

 

• An increase in public transport trips into and through the city centre  
 

• An improvement in the liveability quality of life within the Lincoln area  
 

• An increase in the vitality of Lincoln as a sub-regional centre by encouraging trips for 
tourism, leisure, business and shopping  

 

• The protection of the historic environment from traffic impact 
 

4.9 A significant range of improvements have been delivered since 2008 and considerable 
progress has been made to bring forward the major LITS schemes. With growth returning to 
the economy in the medium to long term, LITS remains relevant and is, indeed, vital to the 
delivery of the aspirations of Lincoln and the wider Central Lincolnshire area. 
 

4.10 While a significant proportion of the Strategy has been delivered over the past five years, 
major components of LITS remain in the programme for the short, medium and long term. 
This programme comprises both established transport improvements that have been key 
components of the LITS proposals over the long term and emerging improvements that 

35



have been identified since the last review of the Strategy. These include sustainable 
transport initiatives, Quality Bus Corridors, Parking Strategy, Park and Ride, Lincoln Eastern 
Bypass, East-West link, Western Growth Corridor Link road.  
 

4.11 The delivery of LITS is very much reliant on the support of partners, strong planning and 
programming, and the sufficient funding. Without these being in place, the transport 
improvements promoted by LITS would take longer to be delivered or may not be delivered 
at all. 
 

5. Strategic Priorities  
 

5.1 
 
5.2 

Growing the local economy  
 
As mentioned previously in the report, the effect of the LITS will be an improved 
environment as a result of reduced traffic, congestion and increased use of public transport. 
Lincoln will therefore become a more appealing City to shop, visit and do business in 
thereby helping grow the local economy.   
 

6. Organisational Impacts  
 

6.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 
 
None 
 

6.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules  
 
None 
 

6.3 Land, property and accommodation 
 
None 
 

6.4 Human Resources 
 
None 
 

6.5 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights (including the outcome of the EA attached, if required) 
 
None 
 

6.6 Significant Community Impact –  
 
None 
 

7. Risk Implications 
 

7.1 (i)        Options Explored  
 
The City of Lincoln Council withdraws support for the LITS work. Transport-related work 
requires genuine partnership working especially with key partners such as Lincolnshire 
County Council as the Highways Authority.  
 

36



7.2 (ii)        Key risks associated with the preferred approach 
 
a) The City Council could find that the resources required to continue engagement and 
support of the LITS are difficult to maintain.  This can be mitigated by clear project 
management including identification and prioritisation of transport-related projects and work.  
 
b) The direction that LITS is taking is not one the Council agrees with.  Again this can be 
mitigated through discussion with partners and compromise where required.  
 

8. Recommendation  
 

8.1 
 

That the Executive note the contents of this report, the progress made with the LITS and 
importance of continued joint working on transport related work for the City.  

  
Is this a key decision? 
 

No 
. 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

No 

How many appendices does the 
report contain? 
 

None 

List of Background Papers: 
 

Lincoln Integrated Transport Strategy  
 

Lead Officer: Toby Forbes Turner, Principal Regeneration Officer 
Telephone (01522) 873804 

 
 
 
 

37



38

This page is intentionally blank.



EXECUTIVE  28 JULY 2014 
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

GROWTH INITIATIVES: CASTLELINE & VISIT LINCOLN  

DIRECTORATE: 
 

DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

NEIL CUTTELL, REGENERATION MANAGER 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To seek endorsement and financial support for the delivery of two initiatives that 

achieve the objectives within the Growth Strategy, namely: 
 
To support financially the development of the Visit Lincoln marketing strategy with 
£25,000 per annum for two years, from 2014/15 to 2015/16.  
 
To support financially the Castleline Rail Project with £10,000 per annum for three 
years from 2015/16 to 2017/18.  
 

2. Executive Summary     
 

2.1 The report proposes to support the continued development of Visit Lincoln and 
specifically the marketing initiative ‘Now is the Time’, and to support the Castleline 
Rail Project. 
 
The Castleline Rail Project is a partnership initiative between the local authorities 
in Lincolnshire and Nottinghamshire. The project proposes to improve rail speed 
times between Lincoln, Newark and Nottingham, as well as to make appropriate 
improvements to infrastructure and services.  
 
Visit Lincoln is the destination management partnership for the city, established 
after the demise of Visit Lincolnshire.  It is a private/public organisation operated in 
conjunction with the Chamber of Commerce and Lincoln BIG.  Visit Lincoln is 
seeking contributions in addition to the operational costs of the partnership to 
provide resources for a major marketing campaign, initially to promote the 
opportunities that the 800th anniversary of Magna Carta will bring in 2015 but also 
beyond to raise the contribution of the visitor economy to the city overall. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

The Castleline Project has established a project team in 2013 to review and 
consider measures to improve the line speeds, infrastructure and services 
between Nottingham, Newark and Lincoln. The local authorities within each 
County are represented on the project team and a recent bid was submitted by the 
D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership to the Government. 
 

3.2 
 

The Visit Lincoln Partnership (VLP) is a private/public sector collaboration 
established to deliver coordinated destination management and marketing for the 
city of Lincoln. VLP is a Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce initiative supported by 

Item No. 7

39



Lincoln Business Improvement Group, and the City of Lincoln Council alongside a 
range of other key city centre stakeholders. The Council currently contributes 
£10,000 per annum to the Visit Lincoln Partnership, the £25,000 referred to in this 
report would be in addition to the existing contribution. 
  
The Visit Lincoln website was created in 2012 and has been operational for over 
two years attracting significant web views on a daily basis. The website promotes 
Lincoln, and specifically allows users to search and view; events, accommodation, 
restaurants, and things to see and do. The website is managed by the Visit Lincoln 
Partnership.  
 

4. Main Body of Report 
 

4.1 Visit Lincoln has launched an initiative, ‘Now is the time’, to increase significantly 
the level and quality of the marketing of Lincoln as a visitor destination.  The 
identified need for this is demonstrated by evidence that Lincoln attracts smaller 
numbers of visitors who then have a lower average spend per head than other 
comparable cities (Durham and Chester for example).   
 
The intention is to attract funding from a range of organisations in the private and 
public sectors to resources a focussed marketing campaign, taking advantage of 
the likely attention Lincoln will attract during the 800th anniversary events for the 
signing of Magna Carta.  It is anticipated that a significant increase in the value of 
the visitor economy will lead to business opportunities and jobs for local residents.  
The recently adopted Lincoln Growth Strategy recognises the importance and 
value of the visitor economy and support for this initiative is therefore compatible 
with the objectives of that Strategy. 
 
Executive may wish to consider, however, placing some conditions on the 
allocation of this additional funding.  The intention is to secure a broad range of 
financial support for the initiative, which is intended to be for additional activity and 
not mainstream funding for the VLP organisation.  The Council could, therefore, 
condition the provision so that there has to be evidence of match funding from the 
private sector and make clear that we would require it to be spent only on the 
purpose for which it was provided. 
 

4.2 The Castleline Project seeks funding to provide an incremental service provision, 
which as a pilot, and if successful may get supported by the Department for 
Transport after 3 years. The county and district councils have met in a project 
team and discussed the potential to operate such a pilot and its initial costs. This 
has been identified as being approximately £700,000 per annum. There was 
agreement from representatives of Newark & Sherwood District Council, North 
Kesteven District Council, Lincoln City Council, Nottingham City Council (and 
subsequently Nottinghamshire CC) to consider positively the case for making 
modest revenue contributions (in the region of £10,000 each) towards the cost of 
the enhanced service to demonstrate the commitment of local partners.  
 
The proposed Castle Line service enhancement would deliver:                      
 
� for Lincoln an average reduction in journey times of around 7 minutes 

eastbound and 3 minutes westbound  
� for Hykeham a doubling of frequency and a reduction in journey times  

40



� for Newark a doubling of frequency and a reduction in journey times 
� for Carlton, Burton Joyce & Fiskerton a doubling of frequency 
� for Bleasby, Thurgarton and Rolleston an increase in frequency 
 
The service enhancement would cost £700,000 pa (net) for 3 years to fund (a total 
of £2.1 million) 
 
Based on this information, consultants have concluded that the service 
enhancement would achieve a Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) over a 30 year period of 
between 1.59 (base case) and 1.84 (including an assessment of the economic 
impact of planned housing and economic growth around North Hykeham Station). 
The minimum Department for Transport BCR threshold is 1.5.  
 
This project directly fits with three priorities of the Growth Strategy, being ‘Great 
Place’, ‘Great Access’, and ‘Great Partnerships.’ The objectives identified within 
the Growth Strategy, which fall under the priorities include: 

• Improving rail links to London & Nottingham 

• Joint and collaborative working on infrastructure  

• Marketing and promoting the cities offer 
 
This project can be funded from the regeneration service revenue budgets for the 
three financial years 2014-15, 2015-16, and 2016-17.  
 

5. Strategic Priorities  
 

5.1 Growing the local economy  
The projects directly align with the recently endorsed Lincoln Growth Strategy. 
These projects support the development of the local economy, by both promoting 
the city for business and tourism investment, as well as making it more accessible 
for business and employment.  
 

6. Organisational Impacts 
 

6.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 
 
The Council has allocated £300,000 towards delivery of the Growth Strategy. 
 

6.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules  
 
There are no legal or procurement implications for the contributions provided to 
these projects, however robust project monitoring is recommended, and regular 
meetings with the accountable body are needed.  
 

7. Risk Implications 
 

7.1 None identified. 
 

8. Recommendation  
 

8.1 
 

That the Executive approves the Council makes the following financial 
contributions to the specified projects: 
 

41



a) the Castleline Project of £10,000 per annum  for  the 3 years, 2015/16 to 
2017/18. 

b) Visit Lincoln Marketing campaign of £25,000 per annum for 2014/15 and 
2015/16, subject to the conditions set out in paragraph 4.1 above. 

 
 

  
Is this a key decision? 
 

No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

No 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 
 

None 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 

Lead Officer: Neil Cuttell, Regeneration Manager 
Telephone (01522) 873466 

 

42



EXECUTIVE 28 JULY 2014 
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
DRAFT NEW TENANCY AGREEMENT 

REPORT BY: 
 

JOHN BIBBY, DIRECTOR OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY 
SERVICES 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

ANDREW STATON, TENANCY SERVICES MANAGER 

 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1 Statutory consultation having been completed with all existing tenants, this report 

brings the final proposed new tenancy agreement to the executive for approval. 
 

2. Executive summary     
 

2.1 At its meeting on 21 October 2013, Executive approved the draft new secure 
tenancy agreement subject to statutory consultation with existing tenants. That 
consultation has now ended; tenants’ comments have been taken into account 
and a small number of amendments are proposed as a result of some of those 
comments. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

It is some eight years since the tenancy agreement was last revised. As simple 
good practice this process should happen on a regular basis anyway in order to 
keep up with developments in social housing generally that affect the contractual 
relationship between landlord and tenant; however, recent legislative changes, 
notably the Localism Act 2011, have made a revision imperative and urgent. 
 

3.2 
 

In terms of legislative changes, the Localism Act 2011 has been a defining piece 
of legislation, which requires revision to the tenancy agreement regardless of other 
changes required or recommended, for example on succession rights. 
 

3.3 
 

The existing tenancy agreement is uncomfortably light or non-existent in areas 
such as the inability to start or finish a tenancy on days other than a Monday 
(which would reduce void re-let times and therefore rent loss), on tenancy 
assignments and successions, tenancy fraud and sub-letting, anti-social behaviour 
and harassment, vehicle ownership, the keeping of pets and the levying of 
legitimate chargeable services, were that ever to become council policy. The new 
draft agreement deals with all those matters. 
 

3.4 The draft new tenancy agreement was approved by Executive last October subject 
to statutory consultation required under the Housing Act 1985. 

  
3.5 Provided statutory consultation has been carried out in accordance with legal 

requirements existing secure tenants will be subject to the new terms of the 
tenancy agreement and their explicit written consent does not need to be given. 

  
3.6 Statutory consultation comprises two distinct stages: 

Item No. 8

43



 
1. Preliminary stage 1A: a preliminary notice is served on all existing 

tenants, together with a copy of the new agreement, giving them one 
month in which to submit comments; 

2. Preliminary stage 1B: the landlord is required to consider all comments 
made but is not obliged to change the agreement because of them, but 
may if it considers them to be valid and such that would improve the 
draft agreement; 

3. Stage 2: once the final agreement is agreed, a 28-day “notice of 
variation” is served on all existing tenants. This statutory time period 
allows tenants to terminate their tenancy should they disagree with the 
terms of the new tenancy agreement. Once this period expires, the new 
agreement is in force and replaces the previous agreement. Tenants do 
not need to sign the new agreement and their own tenancy details do 
not need to be written in the new agreement. 

  
3.7 We are now at the end of stage 1B and are returning to Executive for final 

approval of the new agreement with further proposed amendments taken into 
account. 

  
4. Main body of the report 

 
4.1 Out of the 7,815 tenants consulted, 1,213 tenants responded, making a response 

rate of just over 15½%. Those 1,213 tenants made 8,231 separate comments 
giving, on average, between six and seven per tenant. Of those 8,231 comments, 
7,980  - were in full support of the proposed new agreement. 
 

4.2 Responses to our proposed new agreement were elicited through a questionnaire 
that could be completed either by hand and posted to the company handling the 
consultation or online through our website. Questions were asked on each section 
of the agreement. Support – full, partial or none at all – for each proposed section 
was as follows (excluding those who did not reply to a particular section or 
sections): 
 
 
 

Section 

Description of 
section (& no. 
responses 
received)  

% (count) 
in full 
support 

% (count)  
in partial 
support 

% (count) 
not in 

support at 
all 

1 
Explanation of 
words (1,171) 

97.7% 
(1,144) 

1.6% (19) 0.7% (8) 

2 
Tenancy details 
(1,194) 

97.6% 
(1,165) 

1.9% (23) 0.5% (6) 

3 
General terms   
(1,155) 

96.5% 
(1,114) 

3.1% (36)  0.4% (5) 

4 
Tenant’s rights 
(1,193) 

97.3% 
(1,161) 

2.2% (26) 0.5% (6)  

44



5 
Landlord’s 
obligations 
(1,158) 

97% (1,123) 2.4% (28) 0.6% (7)  

6 
Tenant’s 
obligations 
(1,195) 

94.6% 
(1,131) 

4.2% (50) 1.2% (14)  

7 
Ending the 
tenancy 
(1,163) 

98% (1,140) 1.6% (18) 0.4% (5) 

TOTAL, AGGREGATED 
RESPONSES (8,229) 

96.95% 
(7,978) 

2.43% (200) 0.62% (51) 
 

 
4.3 

 
Apart from tenants being able to indicate whether they fully supported, partially 
supported or did not support at all the proposed new agreement they were also 
given the opportunity to make free-text comments throughout the questionnaire; 
and it was from these that the proposed further amendments emanated. 

  
4.4 There were few common themes that emerged from these free-text comments. A 

small number of tenants who were either partially or not at all supportive of the 
proposed new tenancy agreement felt that certain elements were complicated and 
therefore difficult to understand, with some sections proving more difficult to 
understand than others. For example, a greater number of comments were made 
about the paragraphs referring to service charges and pets in comparison to other 
aspects of the tenancy agreement. Some tenants were confused over the fact that 
their own tenancy details in section 2 were not filled in. This concern will be 
covered in the final notice of variation to be served. 
 

5. Further proposed amendments arising out of the consultation 
 
5.1 

 
Although we have valued all comments received, some of them did make us 
review those sub-sections or paragraphs and a small number of amendments are 
therefore proposed, as follows: 
 

5.2 Section 1 – Explanation of words 
 
A number of comments were made in terms of a lack of understanding of what 
service charges were. It is very difficult to define service charges accurately in one 
or two sentences but we felt that the explanation in section one could be enhanced 
as follows (amendments in bold): 
 
“The amount you must pay to us every week in addition to your net rent for the 
services that we provide, The amount you must pay to us every week in addition to 
your net rent for the services that we provide, usually for communal facilities 
and services such as cleaning, communal lighting and communal lounges”. 
 
Reason for amendment: 

 
A number of tenants said that they did not understand what service charges were 
and wanted a fuller explanation.  

  
5.3 Section 2 – Tenancy details 

45



 
No further changes are proposed. 

  
5.4 Section 3 – General terms 
  

No further changes are proposed. 
 

5.5 Section 4 – Tenant’s rights 
 
No further changes are proposed. 
 

5.6 Section 5 – Landlord’s obligations 
 
Insert a completely new sub-section 5.6 
 
“At all times we will treat you with courtesy and respect” 
 
Reason for amendment: 

 
A number of tenants observed that the section on tenants’ obligations [6] was by 
far the largest section and significantly larger than the section on landlord’s 
obligations [5]. Further comments went along the lines of if it is an obligation of the 
tenant not to be abusive towards the landlord there should be some reciprocal 
obligation on behalf of the landlord towards the tenant. 
 

5.7 
 
5.7.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.7.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 6 – Tenant’s obligations 
 
Sub-section 6.4.2: “Anti-social behaviour”, sixth bullet point: 
 

• “keep any firearm, shotgun or any item made for use as a weapon in your 
home without the necessary certification required by law or keep in your 
home any item adapted for use as a weapon;” 

 

Reason for amendment: 

 
It was felt that this section as proposed could be exploited by someone intent on 
using something other than a firearm as a weapon. 
 

 
Sub-section 6.4.3: “Anti-social behaviour”, fourth bullet point: 
 

• noise at a level that is unreasonable and intrusive or disturbing to 
neighbours, including loud music, television, radio, DIY and noise outside 
your home e.g. car stereos, shouting and parties, etc. Noise of this kind 
should not be audible outside your home. between 11.00pm and 7.00 
am. 

 
Reason for amendment: 

 
A number of tenants said that they did felt that this paragraph as proposed could 
be used to take action against a tenant, for example, wanted to let off fireworks on 
New Year’s Eve. While we would not do that in any reasonable case we believe 

46



 
 
 
 
 
5.7.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
5.7.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.7.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

that this time-defined sentence could also be used mischievously by a tenant 
arguing that he had the right to make as much noise as he likes as long as it 
wasn’t made between 11 pm and 7 am. In view of that we are proposing to delete 
this sentence from the paragraph. 
 
Sub-section 6.8.2: “Looking after your home” 
 

• If you live in a flat or maisonette other than on the ground floor and are not 
planning to install appropriate floor coverings such as carpet and underlay 
in living rooms, bedrooms, hallways, stairs and landings; and vinyl or 
linoleum in kitchens, bathrooms and lavatories you must seek our 
permission first before installing any other type of covering such as 
laminate flooring unless we give you written consent to do otherwise. If you 
install laminate flooring or similar dense hard flooring without our written 
permission we may take legal action against you to force you remove the 
flooring and fit a more appropriate covering. 

 
Reason for amendment: 

 
A number of tenants felt that it was unfair for us to make an explicit obligation for a 
tenant to lay carpet. Many tenants can’t afford carpet and so would be in automatic 
breach of this obligation irrespective of whether or not that lack of carpet was 
causing a nuisance to the neighbour below.  
 
Sub-section 6.9: “Repairs and decorations that are your responsibility”, fifth bullet 
point: 
 

• Dustbins Waste bins; 
 

Reason for amendment: 

 
“Dustbins” is very much an obsolete terms, with most households having wheelie 
bins nowadays. 
 
 
Sub-section 6.10.4: “Alterations and improvements” 
 

• Any alteration, improvement or addition carried out must be undertaken by a 
suitably qualified person. In the case of electrical work, this means an 
NICEIC or NAPPIT-registered and qualified electrician, and in the case of 
gas work, this means a Gas Safe Register (formerly CORGI) registered gas 
engineer. You must supply us with a valid certificate in respect of gas or 
electrical work carried out. Failure to do so within six months will result in 
our obtaining our own test certificate and re-charge you for the cost of 
doing that, plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
Reason for amendment: 

 
Committing ourselves to obtain our own test certificate in the case of tenants’ own 
appliances runs the risk of our becoming legally responsible for the future 
maintenance of that appliance. This final sentence, therefore, should deleted. 
 

47



 
5.7.6 

 
Sub-section 6.15: “Pets and other animals”, para 6.15.1, fifth and sixth bullet 
points: 
 

• non-poisonous and non-venomous insects and spiders; 
 

• non-poisonous and non-venomous snakes and reptiles under two feet in 
length (fully grown). 

 
Reason for amendment: 

 
There is a distinct difference between “poisonous” and “venomous”. “Poisonous” 
means that the toxin can be delivered or ingested in a variety of ways – on 
contact, breathed in or taken into the digestive tract. “Venomous” is the delivery of 
a toxin via traumatic entry into the blood stream through puncturing the skin. 
 
 

5.8 Section 7 – Ending the tenancy 
 
No further changes are proposed. 
 

6. 
 
6.1 

Conclusion 
 
The additional changes proposed do not arise out of a significant groundswell of 
similar opinion but whose original proposed wording has been judged, in 
consultation with relevant staff, to be worthy of re-consideration. For example, in 
5.7.2 above, referring to subsection 6.4.3, we agreed that referring explicitly to a 
time period could be used by some people as a justification for being able to 
create noise with impunity outside those stated hours. 
 

6.2 In summary, a consultation response rate of 15½% and an overall fully supportive 
rate of 96.95% give us confidence that we have a legitimate mandate to implement 
the new tenancy agreement with existing tenants, with the changes arising from 
the consultation made as proposed above, subject to Executive approval.  
 
 

7. Strategic priorities  
 

7.1 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln: this new tenancy agreement sets out 
the rights and responsibilities of both landlord and tenant. The agreement sets out 
a tenant’s right to a peaceful life in their home which, if it did not exist could 
disadvantage the many vulnerable people we house. 
 

8. Organisational impacts  
 

8.1 
 
8.1.1 
 
 
8.1.2 

Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 
 
The final variation notice will be sent to all existing tenants along with a copy of the 
newly-printed tenancy agreement. The approximate cost of this will be £12,000. 
 
There will be a financial cost to the design and production of approximately 12,000 
copies of the new agreement, plus a similar number of revised “A guide to your 

48



tenancy agreement” information leaflet. Although quotes have not been sought yet 
it is expected that the total cost will not exceed £15,000.  
 

8.2 Legal implications including procurement rules  
 
The new tenancy agreement is the defining document of the landlord/tenant legal 
relationship and, as such, is a crucially important document. We have had the 
agreement drawn up by a highly-respected QC specialising in housing and 
tenancy law and, as such, it [agreement] can be seen as a legally robust 
document.  
 

8.3 Equality, diversity & human rights  
 
The proposed further changes to the tenancy agreement will have no effect on the 
original equality impact assessment. 
 

9. Risk implications 
 

9.1 (i)        Options explored  
 
 There were three options open when considering the revision of the 
 tenancy agreement: 
 

(a) Do nothing; 
(b) Revise comprehensively, adding detail and content that is absent in 

the existing agreement; 
(c) Revise only in the areas that are required through changed 

legislation. 
 
Option (a) was rejected immediately: we have to revise the agreement. Option (c) 
was considered; but any change would require full consultation with existing 
tenants. This is a time-consuming and expensive exercise. There are sufficient 
elements of tenants’ rights and responsibilities that are absent in the existing 
agreement and so many aspects of tenancy management that needed more 
comprehensive mention in the agreement (e.g. anti-social behaviour) that it was 
decided that the best option was to go for a complete and thorough revision, 
making a further revision unnecessary (other than through further legislative 
changes, which are out of our control) for a good number of years to come. 
 

9.2 (ii)        Key risks associated with the preferred approach 
 
 None identified other than the need to adhere to statutory consultation 
 requirements as defined by the Housing Act 1985. 
 

10. Recommendation  
 

10.1 
 

That members are invited to agree the new draft tenancy agreement as amended 
as a result of statutory consultation with existing tenants, and its implementation. 
 

  
Key decision 
 

No 
 

49



Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

No 
 

Call in and urgency: Is the 
decision one to which rule 
15 of the scrutiny procedure 
rules apply? 
 

No 

How many appendices 
does the report contain? 
 
 

One: 
 
Appendix 1 is the draft new agreement as amended 
 

List of background 
papers: 
 

None 

Lead officer: Telephone 873716 
 

50



   
 
 
 

 
 

DIRECTORATE OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTORY AND SECURE 

TENANCY AGREEMENT  
 
 
 
 
 

     

APPENDIX 1 

51



 2 

CONTENTS 

 
Section 1 Explanation of words* used in this agreement .............................................. 4 
 
Section 2 Tenancy details ................................................................................................. 5 
 
Section 3  General terms .................................................................................................... 7 
3.1 Type of tenancy ................................................................................................ 7 
3.2 Your responsibilities ........................................................................................ 7 
3.3 Your household ................................................................................................ 7 
3.4 Data protection ................................................................................................. 7 
3.5 Rent .................................................................................................................... 8 
3.6 Former rent arrears and other former debts .................................................. 8 
3.7 Services ............................................................................................................. 8 
3.8 Sheltered housing ............................................................................................ 9 
3.9 Support charge ................................................................................................. 9 
3.10 Service of notices ............................................................................................10 
3.11 Altering this agreement ...................................................................................10 
3.12 Rights ...............................................................................................................10 
3.13 Legislation ........................................................................................................10 
3.14 Third parties .....................................................................................................10 

 
Section 4: Your rights ........................................................................................................11 
4.1 Tenure – your right to occupy ........................................................................11 
4.2 Right to repair ..................................................................................................11 
4.3 Right to take in lodgers ...................................................................................11 
4.4 Right to exchange your tenancy ....................................................................11 
4.5 Right to transfer by exchange ........................................................................12 
4.6 Right of succession .........................................................................................12 
4.7 Right to improve ..............................................................................................13 
4.8 Right to compensation for improvements .....................................................13 
4.9 Right to buy ......................................................................................................13 
4.10 Right to consultation .......................................................................................13 
4.11 Right to complain ............................................................................................14 
4.12 Right to alternative accommodation ..............................................................14 
4.13 Right to be treated equally ..............................................................................14 

 
Section 5 Our obligations to you ....................................................................................15 
5.1 Possession .......................................................................................................15 
5.2 Anti-social behaviour ......................................................................................15 
5.3 Liability .............................................................................................................15 
5.4 Repairs that are our responsibility .................................................................15 
5.5 Decoration ........................................................................................................16 
5.6 Transfers ..........................................................................................................16 
5.7 Boundaries .......................................................................................................16 

 
Section 6 Your obligations to us .....................................................................................17 
6.1 Possession .......................................................................................................17 
6.2 Rent and charges .............................................................................................17 
6.3 Support .............................................................................................................17 
6.4 Anti-social behaviour ......................................................................................17 

52



 3 

6.5 Harassment ......................................................................................................18 
6.6 Our employees, agents, representatives and contractors ...........................19 
6.7 Domestic violence ...........................................................................................19 
6.8 Looking after your home .................................................................................19 
6.9 Repairs and decorations that are your responsibility ..................................20 
6.10 Alterations and improvements .......................................................................21 
6.11 Insurance ..........................................................................................................22 
6.12 Health and safety .............................................................................................22 
6.13 Disposal of rubbish .........................................................................................23 
6.14 Gardens and balconies ...................................................................................23 
6.15 Pets and other animals....................................................................................24 
6.16 Household pests ..............................................................................................25 
6.17 Communal areas ..............................................................................................25 
6.18 Parking and vehicle repairs ............................................................................26 
6.19 Using your home .............................................................................................27 
6.20 Sub-letting your property ................................................................................28 
6.21 Assignment ......................................................................................................28 
6.22 Co-operating with us and access ...................................................................28 
6.23 Overcrowding ...................................................................................................29 
6.24 Owning or renting other residential property ................................................29 
6.25 Rules .................................................................................................................29 
6.26 Costs .................................................................................................................29 

 
Section 7: Ending the tenancy ..........................................................................................30 
7.1 If you wish to end your tenancy .....................................................................30 
7.2 If we wish to end your tenancy .......................................................................30 
7.3 Moving out ........................................................................................................30 
 
Declaration ......................................................................................................................31 
 
Data matching .................................................................................................................31 

 
SIGNING PAGE ..................................................................................................................32 
 
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES ................................................................................................33 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

53



 4 

 

Section 1 Explanation of words* used in this agreement 
 

“Council” 
“Landlord” 
“We” 
“Us” 
“Our” 

City of Lincoln Council  
City Hall 
Beaumont Fee 
LINCOLN 
Lincolnshire 
LN1 1DB 

“Tenant” 
“You” 
“Your” 

The person(s) named as tenant(s) in section 2 of this agreement 

“Partner”, “Spouse” Someone who is, or lives with you as, your husband or wife or a civil partner 

“Agreement” This tenancy agreement  

“Premises” 
“Property” 
“Dwelling” 
“Home” 

The dwelling to which this tenancy agreement relates, including any garden. If 
your home is a top floor flat or maisonette, any loft space or area is not included in 
this tenancy 

“Household” “You” and any person living in your home including lodgers 

“Communal areas” 

Shared entrances, halls, stairways, passages, balconies, yards, lifts, fire escapes, 
roads and footpaths leading to and from your home, and any grassed and 
cultivated areas, drying areas, play areas, forecourts and other shared areas 
forming part of the building or estate of which your home forms a part and which 
are owned and maintained by us 

“Contractor” 
Someone who is employed by us to do a certain job such as a repair. This may be 
someone from our own workforce or an independent contractor 

“Neighbourhood” The local area where you live 

“Housing office” Your housing office, normally City Hall, Beaumont Fee, Lincoln, LN1 1DD 

“Pet” Any living creature that is kept by you in your home  

“Pest” 
Any animal, plant or insect detrimental to humans, including (but not confined to) 
ants, cockroaches, bed bugs, wasps, mice, rats, beetles, fleas and pigeons   

“Net rent” 
The amount you must pay to us every week to us for the use and occupation of 
your home 

“Services” 
Equipment, amenities and labour (other than in respect of repairs to your home) 
that we provide to your home, to communal areas and to other properties owned 
by us and which benefits or is capable of benefiting you directly or indirectly 

“Service charge” 
The amount you must pay to us every week in addition to your net rent for the 
services that we provide, usually for communal facilities and services such as 
cleaning, communal lighting and communal lounges 

“Sheltered housing” 
Developments of specially designated housing where the tenants are provided 
with a support service (usually by a scheme manager) and where they have to be 
over a certain age (usually state retirement age) to be able to live there 

“Support charge” 
The amount you may have to pay every week if you are receiving the services of a 
supported housing officer or a scheme manager in a sheltered housing 
development or where we provide you with support in some other way 

“Other charges” 
Any additional amount you have to pay to us every week such as water, council 
tax or heating. All other charges are listed in this tenancy agreement 

“Total rent” The sum total of all the charges you have to pay to us every week 

 

* These words may be spelt with either a capital or a lower case letter 

54



 5 

Section 2 Tenancy details 
 

2.1 
Name and registered address 
of landlord 

City of Lincoln Council  
City Hall 
Beaumont Fee 
LINCOLN 
Lincolnshire 
LN1 1DB 
 
This is the address for service of notices (including notices in 
legal proceedings) on us. This clause gives you notice as 
required under section 48(1) of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 

2.2 Name(s) of  tenant(s)  

  

 
 

If two or more persons are named as tenants, references to “you”, 
“your” and “the tenant” are to both or all of you. Each person has 
all of the rights but is subject to all of the liabilities created by this 
agreement. This means that you will each be liable for keeping to 
all the conditions of tenancy. This includes being liable to pay all 
sums due under this agreement and not just your own proportion. 
You are also responsible for any other breaches of this 
agreement even if you did not break them yourself 

2.3 

Address of the dwelling to 
which this tenancy agreement 
relates – your new home 

 

2.4 Description of your home: 

Type of property  

Is this a property in a sheltered 
scheme? 

YES*/NO* (delete as 
appropriate) 

Number of bedrooms  

Floor (if applicable)  

Maximum permitted occupants  

Tenancy ref. number  

2.5 Payments for your home 

Net rent at the start of your tenancy £ 

Service charge, currently comprising, but subject to section 3.7.2 
of this tenancy agreement 

 £  

 £ 

 £ 

 £ 

 £ 

 £ 

 £ 

 £ 

 £ 

 £ 

 £ 

Total service charge £ 

Support charge (if applicable) £ 

Other charges 
(e.g.): 

Water £ 

Heating  £ 

Council tax £ 

55



 6 

Other (state) £ 

TOTAL RENT £ 

2.6 

 
 
 
 
First payment 

Your weekly total rent is payable in advance 
no later than 12.00 on the Monday of each 
week of your tenancy. If your tenancy starts 
on a day other than a Monday you must 
make a single payment for the part-week up 
to the next Monday.  
This payment is: 

 
 
 
 
 
£ 

2.7 

 
Former arrears and debts* 

 
The amount you must pay to us in 
accordance with section 3.6 below is: 
 

 
 
£ 

2.8 Tenancy start date   

2.9 
Type of tenancy [secure; 
introductory] 

  

 

56



 7 

Section 3  General terms 
 

3.1 Type of tenancy 
 
3.1.1 If this is an introductory tenancy it means that for the first twelve months there are certain 

rights that you will not have as a secure tenant and your security of tenure will be less than 
that enjoyed by a full secure tenant. These reduced rights and lesser security of tenure are 
shown clearly in this agreement. On the first anniversary of the tenancy start date and 
provided that you are and have been occupying your home as your only or main home 
it will become a full secure tenancy without a new agreement being entered into unless; 

 

• we have started legal proceedings to obtain possession of your home and those 
proceedings have not come to an end, in which case this tenancy will continue as an 
introductory tenancy until either we take possession of the dwelling or the proceedings 
are finally determined in some other way; or 

 

• we have extended this introductory tenancy for a further period of up to six months, in 
which case this tenancy will continue as an introductory tenancy for the period of the 
extension at which time it will become a secure tenancy unless we have started legal 
proceedings as above. 

 
3.1.2 If we decide to extend your introductory tenancy we will give you a notice explaining why we 

have done this and you will have the right to request a review of our decision. We must give 
this notice at least eight weeks before the end of the initial twelve month period. Details of the 
procedure to be followed if you wish to request a review will be set out in the notice. 

 
3.1.3 If your tenancy is or becomes a secure tenancy you will receive the additional rights 

set out in this agreement. The other terms and conditions of this agreement will remain 
the same. As long as you occupy your home as your only or main home and you do 
not break any of the terms set out in this agreement you may live there for as long as 
you wish. However, we can require you to move out of your home under Grounds 9 - 16 
of the Housing Act 1985 (as amended). Under these grounds we would offer you 
suitable alternative accommodation as a secure tenant. 

 
 

3.2 Your responsibilities 
  
 As a tenant you are responsible at all times for the conduct of any person living in or visiting 

your home, including children. 
 

 
3.3 Your household 
 

When signing this agreement you must give us details of everyone who will be living in your 
home, including members of your own family. You must not allow more people to live in your 
home than the maximum stated in section 2.4 of this agreement. You must notify us 
immediately if there are any changes. 

 
 

3.4 Data protection 
 
3.4.1 By signing this agreement, you consent to us holding and processing any personal 

information (including sensitive personal data) about you that you provide or which has been 
or will be provided by third parties for the purposes of performing our functions as your 
landlord. This may include disclosure to other City of Lincoln Council departments or certain 
third parties (such as Lincolnshire County Council) that are able to show that they are entitled 
to receive the information. 

 
3.4.2 We will comply with the Data Protection Act 1998 when dealing with personal data. This 

means that your personal data will be processed in accordance with the law and no personal 
data will be sold to third parties. It also means that you have the right to see data which we 
hold about you subject to payment of a small fee. We are only allowed to refuse access in 
limited circumstances, for example where information may identify a third party who has not 

57



 8 

consented to the disclosure. You have the right to challenge information and may request the 
erasure or correction of records which you believe to be inaccurate. For further advice and 
information regarding access to personal information please contact us 

 
3.4.3 If you leave your home owing rent or any other money, we may pass on information about 

you to any debt recovery or tracing agency that we instruct to recover that debt. If you leave 
your home owing money in respect of electricity, gas, water, telephone or other similar 
charges, you agree that we may pass on contact details to the company to whom the money 
is owed or any agent acting on their behalf. 

 
 

3.5  Rent 
 
3.5.1 We will collect your total weekly rent under this agreement over 50 weeks in each financial 

year (starting on the first Monday in April each year) unless there are 53 Mondays in the year, 
in which case we will collect your total weekly rent over 51 weeks.  We will tell you at the start 
of the year which weeks are ‘non-payment’ weeks. If you owe us any rent you must still pay 
us in the ‘non-payment’ weeks. For the avoidance of doubt this section applies also to 
“service”, “support”, or “other charges”. 

 

3.5.2 On the first Monday in the April following the agreement start date and on each first Monday 
in April after that date we may increase or decrease the net rent by giving you not less than 
four weeks’ notice in writing. The notice shall specify the net rent proposed, together with all 
other charges. With the exception of the first time we increase your rent after your tenancy 
begins the rent will not be increased within 52 weeks of the last increase. 

 
3.5.3 Although the total weekly rent is normally payable weekly in advance in accordance with 

section 2.6, you may if we first agree in writing pay it in advance on a different frequency, for 
example every fortnight or calendar month. 

 
3.5.4 You are responsible for making an application for housing benefit or any equivalent allowance 

if you wish to claim. You are responsible under this agreement for paying the total weekly rent 
whether or not you are entitled to or actually receive any housing benefit. 

 
 

3.6 Former rent arrears and other former debts 
 
 If you have rent arrears or other debts from a previous tenancy you had with us you agree to 

pay off those arrears by the weekly instalments shown in a separate agreement and payment 
account. If you do not make the payments we may start court proceedings to end this 
tenancy. The amount of money you owe us is shown at section 2.7. 

 
 

3.7 Services 
 
3.7.1 In return for providing the services set out in section 2.5 of this agreement and subject to our 

rights of variation contained in this section you must pay a service charge if a figure is stated 
in that section.  Unless stated in section 2.5 as payable to us as part of your total weekly rent, 
you are responsible for all other outgoings on your property such as gas, electricity, water and 
council tax, telephone, broadband/ internet access and television. 

 
3.7.2 With effect from the first Monday in April after the beginning of your tenancy we may increase 

or decrease your service charge (if it applies) at any time if we give you at least four weeks’ 
notice in writing, but we will not do this more than once a year unless there is a change in the 
services we provide. 

 
3.7.3 We may, upon giving you at least four weeks’ notice in writing, withdraw existing services or 

introduce additional chargeable ones from the schedule attached to this agreement. We will 
not introduce additional services that are not included in the attached schedule without 
consulting you first. 

 
3.7.4 We may in the future set the service charge on the basis of the proportion that we assess as 

being reasonably attributable to your home of the estimated total cost over a period of twelve 

58



 9 

months (‘the accounting period’) of providing the services. If we do, we will give you at least 
one month’s notice that we will do this from 1

st
 April in any year and the following additional 

provisions will then apply: 
 

� The service charge accounting period will normally be 1 April to 31 March or such 
other period as we may adopt from time to time at our discretion. 

 

• At the end of each accounting period we will calculate how much we have actually 
spent on providing the services in that period. If we have overcharged or 
undercharged for them we will allow for any overpayment or underpayment in setting 
the new service charge for the following year; 

 

• We will give you a certificate showing what is included in your service charge. When 
you receive your certificate you have the right, within six calendar months of receiving 
the certificate, to examine the service charge accounts, receipts and other documents 
relating to them and to take copies of extracts from them. We will make a small 
charge to cover the cost of any copying. 

 
3.7.5 We can only make reasonable service charges and the services or work we do must be of a 

reasonable standard. 
 
 

3.8 Sheltered housing  
 
3.8.1 If the property is in a sheltered housing development you agree that this tenancy is granted 

on the understanding that: 
 

� support staff may hold a master key which will only be used to enter your home in an 
emergency; 

 
� you are willing to submit relevant personal details for the emergency central control 

service; 
 
� in order to avoid access problems in an emergency you will not fix additional locks or 

chains on the main door without our prior written permission.  We shall not 
unreasonably withhold our permission.   

 
3.8.2 You also agree to accept the level of support services necessary for you to stay in your home 

and be able to live reasonably independently. You therefore agree to sign, and act in 
accordance with, a support plan, which should be agreed with the scheme manager within 
two weeks of the beginning of this tenancy starting. The support plan gives details of the level 
and type of support you need. It runs for the entire course of the tenancy and is reviewed at 
least once a year. The support plan will help you to: 

 

• achieve economic wellbeing; 
 

• be healthy; 
 

• stay safe; 
 

• make a positive contribution. 
 

 

3.9 Support charge 
 
3.9.1  There is a separate charge for receiving the support service (referred to as “support charge” 

in section 2.5 above). 

3.9.2 If the property is in a sheltered scheme we may vary the support charge at any time by giving 
you at least four weeks’ notice in writing of the new charge. This will usually be done at the 
same time as we increase your net rent - in April of each year. 

 

59



 10

3.9.3 If your need for a care or support service arises during the course of your tenancy you will be 
responsible for entering into a separate agreement with another agency to provide that 
service. You must pay the other agency directly for any service that you receive from it. 

 

 
3.10 Service of notices 
 
3.10.1 Any notice that you need to give to us will be validly served if it is received by us at the 

address stated in section 2.1 above. We may if we wish nominate a different address for this 
purpose. 

 
3.10.2 Any legal notice, or any other communication arising from this agreement, will be validly 

served on you if posted to or delivered to your home or left with a member of your household. 
 
 

3.11 Altering this agreement 
 

The terms of this agreement (other than those relating to payment of rent, service and other 
charges) may be varied in accordance with the procedure set out in sections 102 and 103 of 
the Housing Act 1985. We may change any of the terms of this agreement either by 
agreement between us or by giving you 28 days’ written notice of the variation. Before serving 
such a notice we will inform you in writing of the details of the proposed change and will 
consider any comments you may have. 

 
 

3.12  Rights 
 
3.12.1 We grant you as part of this agreement the right in common with other persons having the 

same right to pass over the communal stairs, landings and other means of access for the 
purposes of going to and from your home. 

 
3.12.2 We reserve the right to fix to the exterior of your home, or over or under it, wires, pipework 

and other structures or fittings. 
 
 

3.13  Legislation 
 

All references in this agreement to Acts of Parliament include references to any changes to or 
replacements of them. 

 
 

3.14 Third parties 
 

The Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 does not apply to this agreement. This 
agreement is not intended to and does not give rights to any third parties to enforce any 
provision contained in it. 

 

60



 11

Section 4: Your rights 
 
You have the following rights:- 
 

4.1 Tenure – your right to occupy 
 
4.1.1 You have a right to occupy the property peacefully. We will not interrupt or interfere with that 

right as long as you, your lodgers, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in 
your home, keep to the conditions of this agreement, except where: 

 
� access is required, subject to reasonable notice, to inspect the condition of your 

home or to carry out repairs or other works to your home or adjoining property; or 
 
� we are entitled to possession at the end of the tenancy; 

 
4.1.2 While you are an introductory or a secure tenant, we can only end your tenancy by obtaining 

and executing an order for possession. More details are given of this in section 7 below. We 
may also apply for a demotion order under section 82A of the Housing Act 1985 (as amended 
by the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003). If this tenancy has been demoted (which is similar to 
an introductory tenancy) we may ask the court to make a possession order under provisions 
of the Housing Act 1996.  These give the court very limited powers to refuse a possession 
order.       

 
4.1.3  We can also ask the court to make an injunction under the provisions of the Housing Act 1996 

(or for any other similar order which may replace it). An injunction may include a power of 
arrest and an order excluding you from your home or other area to stop you from breaching 
any terms of this agreement or using your home for unlawful purposes.  We may also apply 
for an injunction against an individual who engages in anti-social behaviour. 

 
4.1.4 Your right to occupy your home is at risk if you do not keep to the terms of this agreement or 

have proper respect for the rights of other tenants and other persons in the neighbourhood. 
 
4.1.5  You will remain an introductory tenant or a secure tenant only for so long as you occupy your 

home as your only or main home. 
 
 

4.2 Right to repair 
 
4.2.1  You have the right to have repairs carried out to your home under section 96 Housing Act 

1985 (as amended); and the regulations made under it apply to this agreement. 
 
4.2.2  Your right to repair means that in certain circumstances if we do not do certain urgent repairs 

on time you can ask for another council-approved contractor to do the work. If the second 
contractor does not do the work on time you may be able to claim compensation. You may 
contact us for more information on this. 

 
 

4.3  Right to take in lodgers 
 
  You have the right to take in a lodger so long as you let us know the name of the lodger and 

that you do not allow your home to become overcrowded and exceed the permitted number 
as set out in 2.4 above. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have the right.   

 
 

4.4 Right to exchange your tenancy 
4.4.1  You have the right to exchange your tenancy with another or our tenants, a tenant of another 

council or a tenant of another registered provider of social housing, such as a housing 
association, provided that you have our written permission and the other tenant has the 
written permission of their landlord. Your right to exchange is governed by schedule 3 of the 
Housing Act 1985 (as amended), which states the grounds on which we can refuse to agree a 
mutual exchange. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have this right.   

 

61



 12

4.4.2 You must pay any rent arrears or put right any other breach of your tenancy before we give 
permission for the exchange to take place. 

 
4.4.3 You must not ask another person to make a payment to you in connection with a tenancy 

exchange or make such a payment yourself. 
 
 

4.5 Right to transfer by exchange 
 
 You may also have the right to give up your tenancy and transfer to another property held by 

certain other assured shorthold or flexible tenants of a private registered provider of social 
housing or a local authority subject to the agreement of the other tenant and their landlord and 
our prior written consent. We can only withhold our consent on the grounds specified in 
Schedule 14 to the Localism Act 2011. While you are an introductory tenant you do not 
have this right. 

 
 

4.6 Right of succession 
 
4.6.1 Unless you are a successor yourself, if you die your tenancy will automatically pass to your 

spouse or civil partner if they were living with you at the time of your death. This is called 
“succession”. 

 
 A successor is someone: 

� who obtained this tenancy or a previous tenancy from us as a result of the death of a 

previous tenant 

� who was a joint tenant but following the death of the other joint tenant is now a sole 

tenant 

� who has obtained this tenancy otherwise than by way of a tenancy exchange (unless 

they were a successor in respect of another tenancy) or an order made in family or civil 

partnership proceedings. 

4.6.2  If you do not have a spouse or civil partner and you are either an introductory tenant or a 
secure tenant whose tenancy agreement was made before 1

st
 April 2012, then provided that 

you are not a successor as defined above the tenancy will pass to another member of your 
family as defined by section 113 of the Housing Act 1985 who has been living with you for a 
continuous period of at least twelve months before your death. If there is more than one 
person entitled to succeed and they cannot agree who is to do so, we will decide which 
person will have the tenancy. 

4.6.3  If you do not have a spouse or civil partner and you are a secure tenant whose tenancy 
agreement was made on or after 1

st
 April 2012, we will not allow anyone else to succeed to 

the tenancy. However we may (although we are not obliged to do so) grant a new tenancy of 
your home (or of other accommodation if that is more suited to their housing need) to a 
person who has been living with you for a continuous period of at least twelve months before 
your death. This will usually, but not always, be a member of your family as defined above or 
a carer. We will ask for proof of residency and look for evidence that your family member was 
residing with you. If there is more than one person who is entitled to claim a new tenancy and 
they cannot agree who is to do so, we will decide who (if anyone) will have a new tenancy. 

4.6.4 If a joint tenant dies the tenancy will pass to the other joint tenant; and that will count as the 
statutory succession. 

 
4.6.5 If someone succeeds under 4.6.2 above to a property that is larger than their reasonable 

housing needs require or it is designated as sheltered accommodation and the successor is 
under the minimum age to qualify to live there, we will expect them to move to more suitable 
and where appropriate smaller accommodation that will be offered to them. If they refuse to 
accept the alternative accommodation offered, we have the right to apply to court for an order 
for possession. 

62



 13

 
4.6.6 We cannot compel a successor who was your spouse or civil partner or a person living with 

you as your spouse or civil partner to move to accommodation more suited to their needs; but 
we may offer them such a move. If they request a move, we will try to help them with their 
request.  

 
4.6.7 While this tenancy remains an introductory tenancy, a successor will succeed to an 

introductory tenancy. 
 
 

4.7  Right to improve 
 
  Subject to section 6.10 below you have a general right to improve your property provided the 

improvement is agreed by us, complies with all planning, building and environmental 
requirements, does not affect your neighbours adversely and does not damage or affect the 
property or neighbouring properties adversely. While you are an introductory tenant you 
do not have this right.   

 
 

4.8 Right to compensation for improvements 
 
  When your tenancy comes to an end you may claim compensation for certain types of 

improvements you have made to your home so long as they’ve been made after 1 April 1994. 
You must have had our permission first (see section 6.10 below). You will need to be able to 
produce bills and receipts to support your claim. We will then work out how much 
compensation to pay you after allowing for wear and tear, etc. You may contact us for more 
information on this. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have this right.   

 
 

4.9 Right to buy 
 
  You have the right to buy your home (outright or under shared ownership) under the Housing 

Act 1985 unless you live in sheltered housing or other housing excluded from this right by that 
legislation. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have this right but the time 
spent as an introductory tenant may count towards the qualifying period.   

 

 

4.10 Right to consultation  

You have a right to be consulted on matters that affect or are likely to affect substantially the 

way your home is managed or maintained. We will always consult you before taking certain 

action including: 

� changing the terms of this agreement; 

� changing the way we manage your estate; 

� changing our policy on repairs and maintenance; 

� improving or demolishing any properties; 

� introducing new services we provide to your home that are not included in the 
services schedule attached to this agreement; 

 
� changing the way we provide the support services at sheltered housing schemes. 

 
 
 
 
 

63



 14

4.11  Right to complain 
 

 If we do not meet our responsibilities under this agreement you have the right to make a 
complaint using our complaints procedure. The procedure operates in accordance with the 
requirements of the Homes and Communities Agency or its successors as laid down from 
time to time. To make a complaint you should contact us by phone, letter, e-mail or in person 
at City Hall. 

 
 

4.12 Right to alternative accommodation 
 

 If we require you to move because we need to undertake major repairs or modernisation to 
your home as part of our investment programme we will offer you temporary alternative 
accommodation that reasonably suits your needs in terms of type, size and location. Your 
security of tenure of and right to return to your property will not be affected 

 
 

4.13 Right to be treated equally 
 

4.13.1 We are committed to preventing unlawful discrimination and promoting equal opportunities in 
the provision of all our services to the community. As such we aim to ensure equality of 
opportunity for all persons regardless of, for example, their race,  religion or belief, ethnic or 
national origin, disabilities, age, gender or gender reassignment, sexuality, medical or marital 
status. 

 
 We aim to make sure that everyone has equal access to our housing services. We do this by: 
 

• recognising that our customers have different needs;  
 

• allocating resources fairly on the basis of need;  
 

• taking positive action against discrimination; and 
 

• promoting good race relations. 
 

64



 15

Section 5 Our obligations to you 
 

5.1  Possession 
 
 We will give you possession of your home at the start of this agreement. 
 
 

5.2 Anti-social behaviour  
 
 We will deal very firmly with anti-social behaviour and take all reasonable steps to investigate 

your complaints into alleged breaches of tenancy by others. We will take such action as we 
consider appropriate in cases of anti-social behaviour, harassment/hate crime, including 
noise, threatening or intimidating behaviour, violence, vandalism, graffiti and pet nuisance.  

 
 

5.3 Liability  
 
 By law, we must remedy any defects in your home for which we are responsible that could 

damage your health. You must tell us about any such defects as soon as you know about 
them. If you do and we fail to remedy them you have the right to apply to the courts for an 
order forcing us to carry out our duties. 

 
 

5.4  Repairs that are our responsibility  
 
5.4.1 We are responsible for repairs to the structure and exterior of your home including drains, 

gutters and outside pipes but excluding glazing. We will keep the installations in your home 
for gas, electricity and water supplies, heating and hot water, in good repair and working 
order. We are also responsible for basins, sinks, baths and lavatories. 

 
5.4.2 We are not responsible for repairing anything: 
 

• which you or someone living in or visiting your home have damaged; or 
 

• which you have brought to or fitted in your home; 
 

• anything for which you are responsible under clause 6.9.2. 
 
5.4.3 You must tell us immediately of any repair or defect that is our responsibility under this 

condition. We will usually make an appointment with you for our contractor to visit your home 
to inspect and/or undertake the work.  

 
5.4.4 You must contact us in advance if you are unable to keep a repairs appointment we have 

made for you. You must do this by the end of the working day before the date of the 
appointment. If you do not cancel an appointment we may charge you for the inconvenience 
caused to us and our contractors if we/they are unable to gain access to the property at the 
appointed time. 

 
5.4.5 We will take reasonable care to keep all communal areas and amenities in a condition where 

they can be used safely by you. This includes: 
 

� lifts; 
 
� laundries; 
 
� drying rooms; 
 
� common rooms; 
 
� play areas; 
 
� domestic refuse facilities 
 

65



 16

� and communally-provided equipment/installations including: 
 
� door entry; 
 
� alarm call; 
 
� fire alarm; 
 
� lighting 
 
� aerials 

 
 

5.5 Decoration 
 
 We will decorate the exterior of your home, exterior woodwork and communal areas as 

necessary. If our contractors damage your decorations during the course of any works, 
including repairs and improvements, we may offer a decoration grant subject to the extent of 
damage and the existing standard of decoration. We will not guarantee a match with your 
existing decorations or floor coverings. If decoration work is required because you are in 
breach of your tenancy you will be recharged for any works carried out. 

 
 

5.6  A professional service to you 
 
  At all times we will treat you with courtesy and respect. 
  
 

5.7 Transfers 
 

We will consider any application you make for a transfer to another property. We may refuse 
your transfer application if you owe us rent and/or maintenance or repair charges and/or we 
have started possession proceedings to end your tenancy.   

 
 

5.8 Boundaries 
 
 We will use our best endeavours to tell you which boundaries to your property you are 

responsible for. 
 

66



 17

Section 6 Your obligations to us 
 

6.1 Possession 
 
 You must take possession of your home at the start of this agreement and live in it as your 

only or main home.  
 
 

6.2 Rent and charges 
 
 You agree to pay the total weekly rent at the times and in the manner specified in section 2.6. 
 
 

6.3 Support 
 
 You agree to comply with your obligations regarding support which are set out in section 3.8 

of this agreement. 
 
 

6.4  Anti-social behaviour  
 
6.4.1 As a tenant you are responsible at all times for the conduct of your friends, relatives and any 

other person living in or visiting your home, including children. Any breach of this agreement 
by them will be treated as a breach by you.  

 
6.4.2 You, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in your home must 

not: 
 

• do anything that causes or is likely to cause a nuisance, annoyance, harassment, 
alarm or distress to any other person living, visiting or working in the neighbourhood; 

 

• do anything that interferes with the peace, comfort or convenience of other people 
living, visiting or working in the neighbourhood; 

 

• cause damage to property belonging to us or other people or organisations in the 
neighbourhood; 

 

• commit any criminal offence in or in the neighbourhood of your home; 
 
 

• use your home for any criminal, immoral or illegal purpose; 
 

• keep any firearm, shotgun or any item made for use as a weapon in your home 
without the necessary certification required by law or keep in your home any item 
adapted for use as a weapon; 

 

• You must also request written permission from us to keep these items.  
 
6.4.3 Conduct for which we can take legal action against you for breach of tenancy includes but is 

not limited to: 
 

• using or threatening violence; 
 

• intimidating behaviour and abusive language including persistent arguing; 
 

• racism, including (but not restricted to) racist comments, abusive letters, telephone 
calls, text-messages, emails, posts on social networks such as Facebook, and 
posters; 

 

• noise at a level that is unreasonable and intrusive or disturbing to neighbours, 
including loud music, television, radio, DIY and noise outside your home e.g. car 

67



 18

stereos, shouting and parties, etc. Noise of this kind should not be audible 
outside your home. between 11.00pm and 7.00 am. 

 

• not keeping your children’s behaviour or visiting children’s behaviour under control; 
 

• persistently banging and slamming doors; 
 

• deliberately damaging and/or vandalising property; 
 

• criminal convictions for offences committed in your home or neighbourhood, including 
theft, offences against the person, affray, sexual offences and fraud; 

 

• drug-dealing, possession, cultivation or production; 
 

• playing ball games close to properties or vehicles where this causes a persistent 
nuisance or where it is prohibited; 

 

• skateboarding, cycling and other similar activities on council-owned footpaths where 
this causes a nuisance; 

 

• dumping rubbish anywhere other than on a civic amenity site or at a facility 
designated for this purpose; 

 

• graffiti and other markings; 
 

• not keeping your pets under control and allowing dogs to bark persistently or foul 
communal areas; 

 

• breaking shared security e.g. letting strangers into communal blocks and jamming 
communal entry doors open; 

 

• persistently repairing motor vehicles; 
 

• inciting or encouraging any other person to do any of the above; and 
 

• voluntary membership of a gang or allowing a member of a gang to visit the property. 
When we refer to a “gang” we mean the definition applied by the Metropolitan Police 
as amended from time to time, which is a “group of individuals involved in persistent 
criminality for some form of personal gain (this includes profit and/or to gain or 
demonstrate status) which is causing significant harm to the community and/or is of 
cross-border concern”. 

 
 

6.5  Harassment  
 
6.5.1 You, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in your home must 

not harass anyone in your home or in the neighbourhood because of, for example, his or her 
race, colour, appearance, religion or belief, ethnic or national origin, gender or gender 
reassignment, disabilities, age, sexuality, pregnancy or their  medical or marital status. This 
includes such conduct towards our staff or contractors. Harassment or ‘hate crime’ is a 
criminal offence. 

 
6.5.2 Harassment includes but is not limited to: 
 

• intimidation; 
 

• violence or threats of violence towards the person, their children, family members and 
pets; 

 

• verbal, written or internet/social networking-based abuse or insults; 
 

68



 19

• damaging or threatening to damage property belonging to another person, including 
damage to any part of their home; 

 

• writing threatening, abusive or insulting graffiti or posting offensive material or objects 
to someone’s home; 

 

• doing anything likely to interfere with a person’s peace or comfort that is personally 
targeted at them because of who or what they are. 

 
 

6.6 Our employees, agents, representatives and contractors 
 
6.6.1 We wish to make our service accessible and responsive to all tenants. We will not tolerate 

threatening or intimidating behaviour, harassment, physical violence, verbal abuse or 
aggression towards anyone, including our officers, agents and contractors, wherever this 
takes place. We will take legal action against you if you breach this condition. This applies to 
you, people who live with you (including your children) and people who are visiting you and 
their children. 

 
6.6.2 You must treat our staff, agents, representatives and contractors and anyone acting on our 

behalf with courtesy and respect and you must not make offensive comments to them. We will 
support these people if they refuse to interview, visit, or speak to you on the telephone. We 
may also refuse you entry to our offices. 

 
 

6.7 Domestic violence  
 
 You must not use, attempt or threaten to use violence or abuse, whether physical, emotional, 

sexual, mental or economic, against any other person (including children) living with you or 
within an intimate and/or family relationship. If you do and that person and/or their children 
have to leave your home because of your conduct we may take steps to evict you from your 
home. 

 
 

6.8 Looking after your home 
 
6.8.1 You must look after your home. You, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other 

person living in your home must: 
 

• not cause damage to your home, to our property or to the property of your 
neighbours; 

 

• not neglect your home or let it fall into disrepair; 
 

• keep the inside of your home clean and in good decorative order; 
 

• take reasonable precautions to prevent water pipes bursting through frost or the 
property being damaged by fire; 

 

• keep your home secure at all times using all security locks where provided; 
 

• keep your windows clean unless you pay for this through a service charge, in which 
case it will be listed in section 2.5 above; 

 

• not cause damage to any of our fixtures and fittings, including glass, inside your 
home or in communal areas, deliberately or through misuse or negligence; 

 

• provide safe storage and recharging facilities for motorised wheelchairs/scooters that 
belong to you. In sheltered housing we may provide storage and recharging facilities 
for electric wheelchairs/scooters. It will remain your responsibility to ensure that they 
are safe and secure within that designated area.  

 

69



 20

6.8.2 If you live in a flat or maisonette other than on the ground floor and are not planning to 
install appropriate floor coverings such as carpet and underlay in living rooms, bedrooms, 
hallways, stairs and landings; and vinyl or linoleum in kitchens, bathrooms and lavatories you 
must seek our permission first before installing any other type of covering such as 
laminate flooring unless we give you written consent to do otherwise. If you instal 
laminate flooring or similar dense hard flooring without our written permission we may 
take legal action against you to force you remove the flooring and fit a more 
appropriate covering. 

 
6.8.3 You must report any repairs that are our responsibility without delay and as soon as you are 

aware of them. This includes repairs such as blocked drains, water leaks, structural 
defects and problems with water, gas electricity and fire appliances. You must not 
prevent our staff or contractors from carrying out the required work and you must cooperate in 
making appointments for them to attend your home. 

 
6.8.4 You are responsible for repairing any damage to your home that is caused deliberately or 

negligently by you, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in your 
home. You will also have to pay for the cost of repairing any damage to other property or to 
the communal areas which is caused deliberately or negligently by you, your children, friends, 
relatives, visitors and any other person living in your home. 

 
6.8.5 If we consider that repair or replacement of such damage is necessary: 
 

• You may arrange for the repair or replacement to be carried out by a suitably qualified 
person, at your own expense, within an agreed period of time and to our satisfaction. 

 

• If you fail to do so, we may carry out the repair or replacement and charge you for the 
cost of the works, plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
 

6.9  Repairs and decorations that are your responsibility  
 
6.9.1 You are responsible for keeping your home clean and in a good state of decoration, and for 

renewing or replacing the following items, unless they are our responsibility under sections 
5.4 and 5.5 above and/or they require replacing through normal fair wear and tear: 
 

• Door locks, keys and fobs including suited keys (fobs, communal and suited keys are 
only obtainable from us at City Hall); 

 

• Door furniture; 
 

• Cupboard latches; 
 

• Light pull cords that aren’t attached to the electricity supply; 
 

• Dustbins Waste bins; 
 

• Internal decoration; 
 

• Lavatory seats and lavatory roll holders; 
 

• Shower hoses and spray heads that are not part of the fixed plumbing system; 
 

• Plugs and chains to sinks, wash handbasins and baths; 
 

• Internal doors; 
 

• Architraves [the moulded trim around door frames]; 
 

• Skirting boards, pelmets and curtain battens; 
 

• Shelving; 

70



 21

 

• Coat rails and hooks; 
 

• Floor tiles and glazed wall tiles; 
 

• Door bells; 
 

• Broken windows and front/back door glass caused by accidental damage or without a 
crime reference number; 

 

• Smoke alarm batteries; 
 

• Washing lines and rotary driers unless communal; 
 
6.9.2 In addition you are also responsible for: 
 

• clearing blocked wastes to sinks, baths, showers and wash handbasins; 
 

• plumbing-in to washing machines and dishwashers; 
 

• easing of doors to fit carpets; 
 

• minor repairs to plaster cracks in walls; 
 

• minor repairs to kitchen units, e.g. tightening screws to and adjusting drawers and 
cupboard doors; 

 

• re-setting time clocks; 
 

• bleeding radiators; 
 

• other fixtures and fittings, and any alterations or improvements you have made.  
 

6.9.3  We may at your request and at our discretion carry out repairs for which you are responsible if 
you and your household are not able to do so or arrange the work because of your age or a 
disability or other special reason.  If so, we will charge you for the cost of the work, plus a 
reasonable administration fee and VAT. We will tell you how much this work is going to cost 
before doing it. 

 
 

6.10  Alterations and improvements 
 
6.10.1 You do not have the right to alter or improve your home in any way unless and until 

this tenancy is or has become a full secure tenancy.  If this tenancy is or does become a 
secure tenancy you must not make any alteration, improvement or addition to your home or 
its fixtures, fittings and outbuildings without first obtaining our written permission. We will not 
unreasonably withhold our permission but we may attach conditions, including a condition that 
you return your home to its original state before the end of your tenancy. This also includes 
adaptations to your property because of a disability you may have. 

 
6.10.2 As well as obtaining our permission you must apply for and obtain any planning, building 

control and other permissions that are needed. These are not covered by our written 
permission as landlord and are given separately by the planning department. We may 
withdraw any permission granted under this agreement to alter, improve or add to your home 
if other permissions are not obtained or if works are carried out otherwise than in accordance 
with those permissions. 

 
6.10.3 You must not alter or decorate the outside of your home in any way without our written 

permission. For example, you must not fix a security grille to your external windows or doors 
or put up a satellite dish, aerial or other radio or telecommunications equipment to the exterior 
of your home. You must not erect or alter anything else including garages, sheds, 

71



 22

greenhouses, pigeon lofts, parking spaces, driveways and walls without our written 
permission. 

 
6.10.4 Any alteration, improvement or addition carried out must be undertaken by a suitably qualified 

person. In the case of electrical work, this means an NICEIC or NAPPIT-registered and 
qualified electrician, and in the case of gas work, this means a Gas Safe Register (formerly 
CORGI) registered gas engineer. You must supply us with a valid certificate in respect of gas 
or electrical work carried out. Failure to do so within six months will result in our 
obtaining our own test certificate and re-charge you for the cost of doing that, plus a 
reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.10.5  We have the right to inspect any work that you have carried out. 
 
6.10.6 You are liable for any damage caused to your home or adjoining property or its fixtures and 

fittings resulting from any improvements, alterations or additions that you make. Any work 
necessary to repair damage caused to your home or any adjoining property resulting from 
improvements, alterations or additions you have made must be carried out to our reasonable 
satisfaction. If it is not, we may carry out the work required and if we do we are entitled to 
charge you for the cost of the work, plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.10.7 If you carry out any alteration or improvement which needs to be removed and reinstated in 

order for us to fulfil our own repairing obligations you will be responsible for the cost of 
removal and reinstatement and any consequential damage caused to the property in doing 
this. 

 
6.10.8  Any approved alterations and improvements automatically become our property when your 

tenancy ends (except for satellite dishes and television/FM aerials) unless we ask you to 
remove them in accordance with section 6.10.1. 

6.10.9 If you make any improvements or alterations without our permission or if you fail to remove 
any improvements or alterations when required to do so you agree that we may remove them 
at that time or when your tenancy ends and if we do may charge you for the cost of the work, 
plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
 

6.11 Insurance 
 
6.11.1 You must arrange your own insurance for an alteration, improvement or addition to your home 

made by you and for any fixtures or fittings left by a previous tenant and accepted by you as 
part of the tenancy. 

 
6.11.2 We insure the structure of your home. You are responsible for insuring the contents and 

insuring against personal liability. You can be liable for damage to your home or injury caused 
to another person and you should make sure that you have adequate insurance against such 
risks. 

 
 

6.12 Health and safety  
 
6.12.1 You must not do anything in your home or the locality that could cause a danger to others 

living in your home or neighbourhood. This includes allowing anyone into the shared areas of 
a building unless you know that they have a right to be there.  

 
6.12.2  If we have fitted a smoke detector in your home you must: 
 

• check it regularly by pushing the test button; 
 

• if you live in sheltered accommodation, report any defect to your scheme manager; 
  
If you fit your own smoke detector, you must ensure it conforms to British Safety Standard 
BSS 5445 part 1 and contains the British Standard kite mark (or any replacement safety 
standard).  

 

72



 23

6.12.3 You must not store anything at your home that is dangerous or may become dangerous or 
might cause fire, flood or other damage to your home or other properties in the 
neighbourhood. In particular, you must not: 

 

• use portable/free-standing oil, paraffin or liquid petroleum gas (LPG) heaters without 
our prior written permission; 

 

• store inflammable materials, liquids or gases in your home other than such as may be 
reasonably required for normal domestic or medical use, or in a manner that 
contravenes manufacturer’s instructions or advice or legal regulations on use and 
storage; 

 

• store dangerous or offensive substances in communal areas; 
 

• alter or tamper with the electricity or gas supply, including door entry, fire alarm or 
alarm call equipment; 

 

• tamper with any equipment for detecting or putting out fires. 
 
6.12.4 You must co-operate and comply with any measures taken to protect the security of your 

home and adjacent properties. This includes the requirement to keep all external doors closed 
at all times. You must comply with instructions on how to use alarm call systems. 

 
 

6.13  Disposal of rubbish 
 
6.13.1  You must: 

 

• dispose safely and hygienically any hazardous waste, including syringes, nappies, 
sanitary towels and incontinence pads and do so in designated areas only; 

 

• keep communal areas, passages, footpaths, lifts and fire exits clear and free from 
rubbish; 

 
6.13.2  You must not: 
 

• leave syringes or needles in any area where others, particularly children, might come 
into contact with them; 

 

• throw anything out of windows or off balconies; 
 

• cause drains or wastes to become blocked as a result of putting inappropriate items 
down them such as oils and fats, disposable nappies, “Wet Wipes” or equivalent, and 
anything bulky and/or not bio-degradable. 

 
 

6.14  Gardens and balconies 
 
6.14.1  You must:  
 

• keep your garden and balcony areas (if any) tidy and free from rubbish and 
obstruction. This includes boundary markings; 

 

• ask for our written permission before you plant trees or large shrubs in your garden. 
You will become responsible for any future works and costs associated with any trees 
or large shrubs you plant; 

 

• unless agreed otherwise in writing in relation to particular trees in your garden, at 
your own expense ensure that any trees or bushes in your garden are kept to a 
manageable height and spread and do not cause nuisance or damage to your 
neighbours or their or our property through, for example, root damage. 

 

73



 24

6.14.2  You must not: 
 

• use any garden or balcony to store rubbish or scrap; 
 

• do anything on the balcony, in the garden or outside areas that is likely to cause a 
nuisance to other people such as allowing water to escape, lighting fires or throwing 
items; 

 

• allow children onto balconies, or any other area which could prove dangerous, 
without responsible adult supervision; 

 

• construct a pond without our written permission or carry out any work to your garden 
without our written permission that requires excavation or installing a water or 
electricity supply;  

 

• cut down or uproot any trees or remove, alter, replace or plant any hedge or fence at 
your home without first getting our written permission.  

 
 

6.15  Pets and other animals 
 
6.15.1 You must ask for and get our written permission before keeping any pet in your home. 

This includes pets you intend keeping outside either in the open or in cages or enclosures. 
Permission is not required for you to have a registered assistance (e.g. guide) dog; but you 
must tell us. 

 
6.15.2 We will not refuse permission unreasonably in the case of pets that we consider suitable and 

in such numbers as we consider reasonable for the size of your home, for health and hygiene. 
We will normally give permission for up to two domestic pets of the following kinds: 

 

• domestic cats and dogs; 
 

• other small domestic animals such as rabbits, chickens (but not cockerels) hamsters, 
guinea pigs, mice, gerbils and rats; 

 

• small birds such as budgerigars and canaries; 
 

• fish; 
 

• non-poisonous and non-venomous insects and spiders; 
 

• non-poisonous and non-venomous snakes and reptiles under two feet in length 
(fully grown). 

 
6.15.3 We will normally refuse permission in the following circumstances: 
 

• Dogs, other than registered assistance dogs, and cats are not allowed in multi-storey 
blocks in any circumstances; 

 

• Dogs and cats are not normally allowed in flats or maisonettes unless there is direct 
access to a private garden; 

 

• Permission will not be given to keep a dog that is prohibited by the Dangerous Dogs 
Act 1991 or any similar legislation, or any other wild, dangerous or poisonous 
creature or any animals covered by the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976; 

 

• Permission will not be given to keep livestock, including horses, ponies or similar 
animals except chickens as in 6.15.2 above. 

 
6.15.4 If permission is given, you must not: 

 

74



 25

• allow a dog to become distressed, causing it to bark and cause a nuisance to your 
neighbours, through, for example, being left alone in the property; 

 

• cause a nuisance by breeding any animals or birds at your home; 
 

• allow any pet you keep at your home to cause a nuisance or danger to anyone in the 
neighbourhood; 

 

• leave a pet unattended or unrestrained in a communal area outside or inside; 
 

• allow pets to foul the communal areas around your home or footpaths or play areas in 
the neighbourhood; 

 

• allow your property to become hazardous to health; 
 
6.15.5  If permission is given, you must: 
 

• keep dogs on a lead in communal areas and on our land; 
 

• keep dogs restrained when our employees, contractors or agents are visiting you; 
 

• clean up after your dog or cat by removing and disposing of faeces hygienically, using 
dog bins if provided; 

 

• keep pets in appropriate enclosures, which are adequate for their needs and from 
which they cannot escape. 

 
6.15.6 If in our reasonable opinion there has been a breach of the terms set out in sections 6.15.4 or 

6.15.5, or we consider that your pet has caused damage to your home, other property or a 
nuisance or annoyance to anyone in the neighbourhood we may give you notice withdrawing 
our permission and ask you to remove it from your home. You must do this within the time 
stated in the notice. 

 
 

6.16  Household pests 
 
6.16.1 We will arrange for treatment to be carried out where infestations of pests occur in communal 

areas of blocks of flats or sheltered schemes. 
 
6.16.2 You are responsible for getting rid of infestations in your home and where necessary for 

paying for a contractor to get rid of them. If you fail to do this, we may arrange for the 
necessary work to be done and if we do may charge you for the cost of the work, plus a 
reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.16.3 You must not feed pigeons, squirrels and other vermin either at your home or in communal 

areas. 
 
 

6.17  Communal areas  
 

6.17.1 You must not place or store any items in communal areas and communal balconies. You 
must keep them free from rubbish and obstructions such as bicycles, mopeds, wheelie bins, 
prams/pushchairs, furniture or wheelchairs including motorised versions. If you break this 
condition we may charge you for the cost of removing and storing or disposing of the item(s) 
plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.17.2 You must cooperate with your neighbours in keeping communal areas and communal 

balconies clean and tidy in between cyclical cleaning service visits, if these are provided. 
 
 
 

75



 26

6.17.3 You may place a small area of carpeting or a mat immediately outside your front door but any 
carpeting or mats you place in communal areas must be certified non-slip. We reserve the 
right to ask you to remove anything of this nature in communal areas that we believe could be 
classified as a trip, fire, or other hazard.  

 
 
 
 

6.18  Parking and vehicle repairs    
 
6.18.1  You are responsible for: 
 

• any vehicle parked at your home, elsewhere on our land or in the neighbourhood 
wherever and however it is parked; 

 

• the contents of your vehicles when parked on our land or surrounding area; 
 

• any injury or damage caused by the presence of your vehicles. 
 
6.18.2  You must not: 
 

� park any motor vehicle at your home or any communal areas other than a private car, 
motorbike or other equivalent vehicle; 

 
� park caravans, boats, trailers, lorries or any other business vehicles at your home or 

any communal areas without first obtaining our written permission; 
 
� park any vehicle which is uninsured, is not roadworthy or is not displaying a current 

road fund licence at your home (other than in an integral garage) or on any communal 
parking areas; 

 
� park on any forecourt, including block and estate entrances and garage areas, unless 

designated for this purpose or on any grassed areas or areas marked with yellow 
lines and/or boxes; 

 
� park in a way that might cause an obstruction to other properties, dropped kerbs or 

disabled accesses; 
 
� park in designated turning areas; 

 
� park in a way which might obstruct access for emergency vehicles, other vehicles, 

road users and pedestrians; 
 
� park a vehicle within the boundaries of your home (otherwise than in a garage) unless 

there is a dropped kerb access from the public highway and a hard standing which 
has been constructed to our specification and satisfaction, and with our written 
permission; 

 
� drive across a grassed area, verge or pavement, without first obtaining written 

permission from us and from the highway authority; 
 
� keep mobility scooters in communal areas such as entrances, passages, landings, 

stairways and any other internal areas used by tenants; 
 
� use communal electricity supplies, other than designated charging points, to charge 

batteries for mobility scooters, electric cars or any other private electrical device; 
 
� keep motorbikes or mopeds inside your home or in communal areas such as 

entrances, passages, landings, stairways, any other internal areas used by tenants 
and in any external sheds or stores (except garages) that are physically attached to 
your home or the block that contains it. 

 

76



 27

6.18.3 You agree that we may remove any vehicles that we reasonably consider to have been 
abandoned, any vehicles parked in unauthorised areas (including internal communal areas) 
and any vehicles that we consider to be unroadworthy or dangerous. We may also remove 
any vehicle parts that are left on land belonging to us. If we have to do this and you are 
responsible for the vehicle or parts, we may charge you for the cost of removing and storing 
or disposing of it plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.18.4  You must not: 
 

� carry out repairs to a vehicle that is not owned by you or a member of your 
household; 

 
� carry out major repairs to your own vehicles including engine changes, body part 

replacements and paint spraying, at your home or on any communal areas or any 
land belonging to us; 

 
� dump any vehicle parts or scrap on communal areas or other land owned by us. 
 

6.18.5 You may carry out routine maintenance such as changing tyres, plugs and oil but in doing so 
you must not: 
 
� when changing oil, allow it to contaminate roadways, garage forecourts or paths; 
 
� pour oil, fuel, or any chemical substance down drains or gullies or onto gardens. 
 
� cause a hazard or nuisance or annoyance to neighbours or obstruction to traffic or to 

other road users. 
 

6.18.6 You must remedy any damage caused to your home, communal areas, garage forecourts, 
roads or paths resulting from vehicle repairs and maintenance you have carried out. If you do 
not, we may carry out any necessary repairs and we may then charge you for the cost of the 
work, plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT 

 
6.18.7 Where there is a communal car parking area you and your visitors must park only in spaces 

designated for your use, respect the rights of other residents to park their vehicles and ensure 
that the area is used by your visitors for short stays and not used for any other purpose other 
than for visiting you. 

 
 

6.19  Using your home 
 
6.19.1 You (or if you hold a joint tenancy, one of you) must live in the property as your only or main 

home. If you are planning to be away from the property for more one month at any one time 
you must tell us. You must also leave your contact number or address and also the contact 
details of someone who can give us access to the property if required. You must also tell us 
when you intend returning to the property and the reason for your absence. If you do not do 
all of these things we may take action to re-possess the property on the basis that you have 
abandoned it. 

 
6.19.2 You must not run a business or trade from your home without first obtaining our written 

permission. We will not refuse permission unreasonably but we may do so if we consider that 
the business is likely to cause a nuisance, damage to your home or if you are intending to sell 
illegal or restricted goods or services. 

 
6.19.3 If we do give permission for you to run a business from your home: 
 

� you must ensure that you comply with any necessary legal, building regulations or 
planning requirements and that you are suitably insured. You must also send us 
copies of any legal, planning or building regulations approvals; 

 
� you must not place or exhibit any advertisement, notice or sign visible from outside 

the property advertising any profession, trade or business or any goods or services. 
 

77



 28

6.19.4 If in our reasonable opinion your business causes a nuisance to other people, such as 
neighbours and other local residents, we may give you notice withdrawing our permission 
from the date stated in the notice. If we withdraw our permission and you continue to run a 
business from your home we may take legal action against you which could result in your 
being evicted from your home.   

 
 

6.20 Sub-letting your property  
 
6.20.1 While you are an introductory tenant you are not entitled to sub-let any part of your 

property. You must not, when you are a secure tenant, sub-let or hand over any part of your 
home: 

 
� without first obtaining our written permission, which will not be withheld unreasonably; 
 
� at any time when you are not occupying another part of your home as your only or 

principal home. 
 
6.20.2 You must not sub-let or hand over your entire property in any circumstances. If you do, you 

will no longer have a secure or introductory tenancy. 
 
6.20.3 You must not give away or sell the keys to your property to another person. 
 
 

6.21  Assignment  
 
6.21.1 You must not assign (legally “pass on”) your tenancy unless we have first given you our 

written permission and: 
 

• you wish to assign it to someone who would have been able to succeed to your 
tenancy immediately after your death as explained in sections 4.6.1, 4.6.2 or 4.6.4 
above; 

 

• this tenancy has become a secure tenancy and you are assigning it under the right to 
exchange; 

 

• the assignment is made in accordance with an order of the court under one of a 
number of family law provisions governing both partners and children. 

 
6.21.2 We will not unreasonably withhold our permission. We will ask you to complete a deed of 

assignment document before assigning your tenancy. You may contact us for more 
information on this. 

 
6.21.3 If we give you our written permission to assign your tenancy you must not demand or receive 

any money for the purpose of encouraging the assignment to take place. If evidence comes to 
light that money has been exchanged for this purpose we may take legal action against you. 

 
 

6.22 Co-operating with us and access 
 
6.22.1 Our employees, agents or contractors may need to enter your home at reasonable times to 

inspect it or carry out repairs or other work to either your home or to neighbouring properties. 
We will tell you when we intend to call and normally give you 48 hours’ notice. You must allow 
access for this purpose. 

 
6.22.2 If we have given notice but you do not let us in we can ask the court to make an order that 

you do so. We may also charge you for any legal or other costs we incur, together with a 
reasonable administration fee and VAT.  

 
6.22.3 In the case of an emergency such as a water or gas leak, electrical fault or anything that 

could harm your or your neighbours’ health and safety, your property or adjoining properties 
we may give less than 48 hours’ notice. If we cannot obtain access to your home when we 
need to or if you fail to give us access to carry out gas servicing, you agree that we may force 

78



 29

entry to it. We will make good any damage caused, including changing the locks. If the 
emergency has arisen as a result of your act or default, or that of a person living with or 
visiting you, you must pay to us the cost of making good together a reasonable administration 
fee and VAT.  

 
6.22.4 If you do not give us access to carry out gas servicing at your home (currently 

annually) we will take legal action against you in order that we may fulfil our legal 
obligations to carry out gas servicing in order to protect you and your neighbours, 
your home and adjoining properties. 

 
6.22.5 We issue identity cards to our staff and appointed agents (e.g. contractors and sub-

contractors) which they are expected to display prominently or show you before coming into 
your home. You should always ask to see an identity card before letting anyone into your 
home. 

 
 

6.23 Overcrowding 
 
 You must not allow more than the number of persons shown in section 2.4 of this agreement 

to live in the property. The number of people living in the property is calculated as follows: 
 

• Infants under one year of age are not counted; 
 

• Infants and children over one but less than ten years of age count as half; 
 

• Children over ten years of age and adults count as one. 
 
 

6.24  Owning or renting other residential property 
 
6.24.1 During your tenancy you must not (either solely or jointly) own or rent any other residential 

property that it would in our opinion be reasonable for you to live in as your home. You must 
tell us if you own another residential property or have any other residential lease or tenancy. 

 
6.24.2 If you inherit a property this condition can only be broken once you have owned the property 

for more than twelve months. 
 
6.24.3 In deciding whether you have broken this tenancy condition we will consider: 
 

• whether the property is fit to live in; 
 

• whether you have acquired the property for use as a holiday home, whether it is 
suitable for that purpose and whether there are restrictions on occupation as a home; 

 

• whether the property is suitable for your household, taking into account the property’s 
size, your income and employment, any disabilities or medical problems you have 
and any other relevant circumstances; 

 

• whether it would be reasonable in all circumstances for you to sell the property. 
 

 

6.25  Rules 
 
 You must comply with any estate rules or similar regulations that apply to the property and 

with any covenants, conditions or obligations which affect it and which are binding on us as 
tenant or owner of it. We will inform you if any of these apply at the beginning of your tenancy. 

 
 

6.26  Costs 
 
 You must pay to us any costs that we incur in taking legal action to enforce the terms of this 

agreement or to bring it to an end because of a breach by you of its terms. 
 

79



 30

Section 7: Ending the tenancy 
 

7.1 If you wish to end your tenancy 
 
7.1.1 You can end your tenancy at any time by giving us at least 28 days’/four weeks’ notice to quit 

in writing, ending on a Monday. In the case of joint tenants, one tenant can end the tenancy 
by giving us notice in this way 

 
7.1.2 If you die when a sole tenant, four weeks’ written notice to end the tenancy must be given by 

your next-of-kin or executors. The total weekly rent will still be due until the tenancy is ended 
and must be paid out of your estate. If we can re-let the property before the notice period 
expires and your next-of-kin or executors agree to this, we will waive any whole weeks’ rent 
due after the new tenancy begins. 

 
 

7.2 If we wish to end your tenancy 
 
7.2.1 If you cease to occupy your home as your only or principal home, we can end your tenancy 

by serving you with 28 days’/four weeks’ notice to quit in writing. 
 
7.2.2 If you are an introductory tenant, we can only evict you from your home by applying for, being 

granted and then executing a possession order granted by a court. We must first have served 
you with the correct notice as required by Section 128 of the Housing Act 1996. You have the 
right to request a review of our decision to serve the notice. If you do not request a review or 
we do not change our mind, we can apply to the county court for a possession order. Details 
of the review process will be set out in the notice. 

 
7.2.3 While you are a secure tenant, we can only evict you from your home by applying for, being 

granted and then executing a possession order granted by a court. We must first usually have 
served you with the correct notice of seeking possession for one or more of the specific 
reasons (or “grounds”) set out in the Housing Act 1985 as amended. This usually gives you 
four weeks to remedy your breach of tenancy. After that we can apply to the county court for a 
possession order. 

 
7.2.4 If one of the grounds on which we seek evict you is ground 2 (anti-social behaviour or 

conviction for an indictable offence) we can start proceedings immediately after serving you 
with the notice of seeking possession. We are also entitled to ask the court to dispense with 
the requirement for service of a notice regardless of what ground we rely upon. 

 
7.2.5  You may not be granted another tenancy by us if you: 
 

• are evicted from your home following a court order made because you have broken 
the terms of this agreement; 

 

• abandon your home and do not return the keys; 
 

• owe rent on your home or a previous tenancy; 
 

• leave your home in a poor condition and do not pay for repairs carried out by us on 
your behalf. 

 
 

7.3  Moving out 
 
7.3.1 Once you or we have given notice you must pay all outstanding debts due under the terms of 

this agreement, including rent and other charges. You must also allow us access with at least 
24 hours’ notice for the following: 

 

• to carry out a pre-termination inspection of your home; 
 

• to photograph and/or video the property in order to market it to prospective new 
tenants and to create a record of its condition; 

80



 31

 

• to carry out an asbestos survey if this is required; 
 

• accompanied viewings of the property by prospective new tenants. 
 
7.3.2 When you move out of your home you must leave it vacant, making sure no other person 

remains in occupation and you do not leave any pet behind. In addition your home must be in 
a good state of repair, free from damage and in clean condition, which includes being free 
from pests, vermin and rubbish. You must leave our fixtures and fittings in a good state of 
repair. This also applies to inside and outside communal areas, gardens, sheds, garages and 
other outbuildings. 

 
7.3.3 You must remove all your belongings. If you leave anything behind you agree that we are not 

responsible for loss or damage. We will remove it and will be entitled to charge you for the 
reasonable costs of removal and/or storage, whether the items belongs to you or any other 
person. 

 
7.3.4 Provided that you can be contacted we will give you one month’s notice in writing to collect 

the items and we will store them during that time. If however an item is perishable or to look 
after it would be unreasonably expensive or inconvenient we may sell or otherwise dispose of 
it when and how we see fit. 

 
7.3.5 After one month, you agree that we will then become the owner of any items that you have 

not collected and may dispose of them in such manner as we decide. You must still pay to us 
the reasonable costs of disposal incurred by us. We are not obliged to sell anything that you 
leave behind but if we do, we will deduct the proceeds of sale from the costs of disposal and 
any other debts that you owe us (for example rent arrears). You agree that we can retain any 
surplus. 

 
7.3.6 If you leave any animals at your home we will re-home them immediately through recognised 

organisations such as the RSPCA. 
 
7.3.7 You must pay for any repairs or other works (including reinstatement to original condition 

where appropriate) that we have to carry out at the end of your tenancy that were your 
responsibility or were caused by a breach of this agreement. 

 
7.3.8 You must return all keys, fobs and entry-call keys to us when you move out of your home. If 

you do not do this we may change the locks and you must pay to us the cost of doing so. 
 
7.3.9 If as a result of your failure to comply with the terms of this agreement we are unable to let 

your home to someone else at the end of your tenancy, you must pay to us the equivalent of 
the rent that we would have received for the period until the property is ready to be let. 

 

We are subject to any guidance on housing management practice issued by the Homes and Communities 
Agency or its successors with the approval of the secretary of state; and this tenancy is one to which that 
guidance applies. 

 

Declaration 
 
By signing this tenancy agreement on the next page you are making a contractual commitment to 
abide by the terms of the tenancy and be responsible for all breaches, even if they were committed by 
someone else living with you, your children or any visitors. If you lied in any way in order to get this 
tenancy we can apply to the court for possession of the property.  
 

Data matching 
 
We are under a duty to protect the public funds we spend and administer. To this end we may use the 
information you have provided on this form for the prevention, identification and enforcement of tenancy fraud. 
We may also share this information with other organisations responsible for auditing or administering public 
funds for these purposes.  

 
You can get more information on this by going to http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/datamatchingstatement 

81



 32

SIGNING PAGE 

 

Signed on behalf of the landlord, 
City of Lincoln Council 

 

Name 
 

Position 
 

Date 
 

Signed by the tenant(s), having 
read the terms and conditions of 
this agreement and been 
informed of their right to take 
their own independent legal 
advice 

 

 

Date 
 

Please note: Your home is at risk if you (or anyone acting for you) 
have knowingly or recklessly making a false statement to us in 
order to obtain this tenancy. By signing this agreement you are 
confirming that you have read it, or had it explained to you, that 
you understand its terms and agree to keep to them; and you have 
been given a copy of this agreement and its accompanying 
conditions. 

 

82



 33

SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 
 
 
In accordance with section 3.7 of this agreement this is the complete schedule of services we may provide:  
 
Heating and hot water 
 
Repairs or maintenance contracts on boilers, heat exchangers, hot water tanks, communal radiators and 
pipes  - only where the plant is not in the control of the landlord 
Depreciation of plant etc 
Fees for energy-saving consultants 
Fuel (gas, oil, electricity etc) 
 
 
Common parts and communal services. 
 
Cleaner’s wages including holiday relief 
Cleaning materials 
Electricity for lighting, power for vacuum cleaners etc 
Replacement lamps 
Window cleaning in common parts 
Refuse sacks, provision, hire of refuse containers 
Emergency lighting maintenance 
Communal television aerials/entry-phones etc and licence fee for a communal television. 
Smoke/fire alarm equipment maintenance 
Smoke dispersal equipment maintenance 
Maintenance of bin stores 
Fire fighting equipment maintenance 
Door entry system maintenance and servicing 
Pesticides and pest control contracts 
Communal telephone rental 
Maintenance of common parts, grounds and car parks 
Gardener’s wages/contractor’s charge 
Repair/maintenance of gardening tools and equipment 
Plants for gardens, shrubs and tree lopping (including annual provision if appropriate) 
Employer’s liability and third party insurances 
Ventilation and air conditioning equipment maintenance 
Maintenance of water softening and purification systems 
Plant and equipment testing required by statute (see exemption) 
 
 
Porters, wardens and caretakers: 
 
Salaries of wardens/scheme managers, caretakers etc  
Employer’s pension contributions 
Employer’s national insurance contributions 
Council tax, water and sewerage rates on accommodation 
Uniforms/overalls allowance 
Gas and electricity allowances on accommodation 
Decoration allowance on accommodation 
Notional reasonable rental value of rent-free accommodation 
 
 
Lifts: 
 
Electricity 
Repairs and maintenance contracts 
Insurance 
 
 
 
 
 

83



 34

Special facilities: 
 
Electricity for lighting and cooking etc in communal rooms, laundries and kitchens 
Electricity for electric wheelchair and buggy charging points 
Decoration of communal rooms, laundry rooms etc 
Cleaning and repair of communal furniture, carpets etc 
Insurance of furniture 
Depreciation and maintenance of refrigerators, water heaters, cookers in communal kitchens, laundry 
equipment, communal room furniture and carpets 
Maintenance and depreciation of burglar alarms and security lighting 
Maintenance and depreciation of cookers, refrigerators and washing machines within the dwelling if repaired 
and maintained by the landlord. 
Maintenance of electric wheelchair and buggy stores 
Special facilities for the disabled. 
Charges for services provided under the ‘Supporting People’ scheme. 
 
 
Administration/supervision: 
 
Management charge (not applicable where any subsidiary company of ours carries out the work and includes 
such costs in its charge to us) 
Notional items such as the rent for accommodation and on depreciation. 
 

Depreciation & sinking funds for: 

 
Communal boilers 
Lifts 
Rubbish paladins 
Mowers 
Carpets to common parts 
Emergency lighting 
Fire alarms and equipment 
Door entry systems 
TV aerials 
Warden/alarm call systems 
Office furniture 
 

84



EXECUTIVE 28 JULY 2014 
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

SKATEPARK PLANNING APPLICATION 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT & ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

ANTONY ANGUS, RECREATIONAL SERVICES TEAM LEADER 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To recommend to the Executive the withdrawal of the planning application for the 

proposed skatepark on Hobblers Hole and to confirm that further site 
evaluations/consultation is undertaken on identifying a suitable site for a 
skatepark. 
 

2. Executive Summary     
 

2.1 Members will be aware that a planning application was submitted for the creation 
of a dedicated skatepark facility on the land known as Hobblers Hole on the north 
of the City. 

The creation of a skatepark is a longstanding City Council priority and the 
selection of the site followed a long period of consultation and site searching to 
meet the identified need for the north of Lincoln.  Provision of a skatepark in this 
area of the City was assessed as a need in the city in the play strategy adopted in 
2007, updated in 2011.  

2.2 Following the extensive search for alternate sites, the option of Hobblers Hole was 
confirmed last year and a planning application submitted.  As part of the normal 
planning application process, a number of further studies have been undertaken, 
including an assessment of the noise impact. 
 
The recommendation from the acoustic specialist employed by the Council to 
undertake this is that in order to fully protect a small number of houses that might 
be adversely affected by the skatepark, a sound barrier would need to be 
constructed as part of the facility. 
 
Council officers from both Recreation Services and Development Management 
believe that such a barrier, given the size required, would be inappropriate on this 
site and likely to lead to a recommendation to refuse the planning application.  In 
the light of this, officers feel that it would be the right course of action to withdraw 
the application. 
 

2.3  In the light of this recommendation, officers believe that a reassessment of the 
best way to meet the Council’s commitment to a skatepark needs to be 
undertaken.  The acoustic analysis indicates that all of the previously assessed 
sites would be similarly unsuitable; in fact most of not all of them have more 
residential properties closer to the suggested site. 
 

Item No. 10

85



Officers also recommend that further consultation with skatepark users is carried 
out, to ascertain priorities in relation to location, accessibility etc for a new facility.  
The objective to date has been to identify a suitable site in the north of the City to 
complement that in the south, but it has become increasingly clear that this 
objective may be difficult to meet. 
 

3. Development of a Skatepark in North/Central Lincoln 
 

3.1 
 

Members will be aware that the City Council has applied for planning consent to 
build a skate park at the Hobblers Hole site on Long Leys Road. A number of 
technical reports were being undertaken to support the application and ensure that 
the proposals were sound and would not have any detrimental impact to the 
ecology of the site or potentially cause nuisance to nearby residential properties.  
 

3.2 
 

One of the key technical reports was an acoustic survey. This report would 
determine whether any significant change in the current ambient noise levels 
resulting from the proposal would adversely affect any neighbouring properties. 
The initial report, not informed by a topography survey, indicated that there would 
be some issue above recommended guidelines for several properties unless 
significant mitigation was undertaken. This mitigation would include a 20 metre 
long, 1.8m high solid wood barrier with a rubber face. Planning officers advised 
that it would be unlikely they would be able to recommend approval of such a 
design at this site.   
 

3.3 
 

This situation was unexpected as the site was over 100m from any property. The 
decision was taken to conduct a topographical survey to further and fully inform 
the noise modelling. This would then give a complete and accurate assessment. 
This work was completed and the latest modelling still indicates that there would 
be issues for some properties either with or without the proposed mitigation. 
The topographical survey confirmed the initial findings from the acoustic survey, 
namely that there would be a potential noise nuisance for residents in the area that 
could only be mitigated through the addition of a barrier around the site.  . 
 

3.4 Through the consultations undertaken with local residents officers assured 
concerned consultees that if an insurmountable issue with the proposals emerged, 
the proposal would be withdrawn. Given that the acoustic modelling indicates that 
the proposal for a skate park at Hobblers Hole would possibly cause a noise 
nuisance to nearby properties, the proposal for a skate facility at this site is no 
longer viable.  
 
On the basis of the advice from Planning Officers proceeding with the application 
would not make sense and therefore the recommendation has to be to withdraw it 
 

4. Next steps 
 

4.1 As Members will appreciate, very considerable efforts have been put in over the 
years to find suitable sites for skate parks and there have been repeated 
disappointments for the Skate Park Users Group. 
 
Hobblers Hole offered a site considerably further away from residential properties 
that any of the other sites considered in the centre/north of Lincoln. Given that the 
acoustic modelling undertaken for Hobblers Hole indicated a problem to houses 

86



over 100m away, it is therefore extremely unlikely that any of those sites will be 
feasible. 
 

4.2 In order to meet the Council’s strategic objective to extend skatepark facilities in 
the north and central are of the City the Council will need now to carry out a further 
review of potential sites.  As a starting point, further discussions with the 
stakeholder groups will take place, particularly on the achievability of the ambition 
to identify a site in the north/central area of the City 
 
Once those consultations have taken place and a further site search undertaken, 
taking into account the acoustic findings relating to Hobblers Hole, officers will 
report back to the Executive with options for moving this scheme forward. 
 

5. Organisational Impacts  
 

5.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 
 
The proposed skatepark was to be funded through a combination of s106 funding 
for play and grants to be applied for in addition to money raised through the Karl 
Cody Fund.  The funding options for any new identified site will depend on location 
and the availability of grants at the time.  The financial implications of a new site 
will form part of the assessment at the time we report back to the Executive. 
 

6. Risk Implications 
 

6.1 Clearly there is a risk for the Council that it is either unable to identify a site that 
meets the criteria of a location in the north or central area of the City, or even 
anywhere else.  The findings of the acoustic survey may make location of an 
additional skatepark, particularly on the scale proposed, near to residential areas 
very difficult.  Accessibility of the facility to users, either by virtue of a central 
location and/or public transport will always be a key factor but the risk of noise 
nuisance may make this difficult to achieve. 
 

7 Recommendation  
 

7.1 
 

That the Executive, noting the technical information outlined in the report, 
authorise officers to: 
(i) Withdraw the submitted planning application for the proposed skatepark 

on Hobblers Hole; and, 
(ii) Commence consultations with users and stakeholders on the options for 

an alternate site, reporting back to the Executive at the earliest 
opportunity. 

  
Is this a key decision? 
 

No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

No 

87



How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 
 

None 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None  

Lead Officer: Antony Angus – Recreation Services Team Leader 
01522 873515 

 
 
 
 
 

88


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes - 7 July 2014
	3 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme
	4 Lincoln BIG Ballot Nomination
	5 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
	6 Lincoln Integrated Transport Strategy 2013 Progress Review
	7 Growth Initiatives: Castleline & Visit Lincoln
	8 Draft New Tenancy Agreement
	Draft New Tenancy Agreement - Appendix 1

	10 Skatepark Planning Application

